

Regulations summary document "Organisation, Management and Control Model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01"

Latest update: 20 October 2020

Contents

1	Inte	RODUCTION	4
	1.1	Purpose	4
	1.2	Scope of application and procedures for adoption	5
	1.3	Summary of updates	5
	1.4	Glossary	5
GE	NERAI	L PART	8
2	İTAL	LIAN LEGISLATIVE DECREE NO. 231 OF 8 JUNE 2001	9
	2.1	Nature and features of corporate liability	9
	2.2.	Types of offence identified by the decree	9
	2.3.	Objective criteria for the allocation of liability	10
	2.4.	Subjective criteria for the allocation of liability	11
	2.5.	Offences committed by senior managers	11
	2.6.	Offences committed by individuals as directed by others	12
	2.7.	Characteristics of the "organisation, management and control model"	12
	2.8.	Offences committed abroad	13
	2.9.	Attempted crime	13
	2.10.	Penalties	13
	2.10	0.1. Fines	14
	2.10	0.2. Prohibitive penalties	15
	2.10	0.3. Other penalties	16
	2.11.	Entity-changing events	16
	2.12.	Predicate offences and other crimes	17
	2.12	2.1. The original corpus of predicate offences	17
	2.12	2.2. Subsequent implementation of the group of predicate offences	18
	2.12	2.3. Further provisions contained in other Italian regulatory measures	22
3	NAT	TURE OF THE MODEL	23
4	SUB	BJECTIVE SCOPE OF APPLICATION OF THE MODEL	24
5	THE BANK'S MODEL		
	5.1. Development of the model		25
	5.2.	Organisational management	26
	<i>5.3.</i>	Mapping of the areas/activities at risk	26
	5.4. model	The regulatory system, the system of delegations and the control system require 29	d by the
	5.1	1 The Group regulatory system	30

	5.4.2	2. The system of delegations and powers	31
	5.4.	3. The internal control system	34
6	ADC	PTION, AMENDMENT AND UPDATING OF THE MODEL	. 37
7	GRO	DUP GUIDELINES	. 39
	7.1.	Representative offices	. 39
	7.2.	Italian subsidiaries	. 39
	<i>7.3.</i>	Foreign subsidiaries	. 41
8	SUPERVISORY BODY AND REPORTING OBLIGATIONS		. 43
	8.1	Introduction	. 43
	8.2.	Membership, requirements, term of office and appointment	. 43
	8.2.	1. Membership	43
	8.2.2	2. Requirements	43
	8.2.	3. Term of office of members	44
	8.2.4	4. Procedure for assessing and verifying requirements	44
	8.2.	5. Further scenarios of changes in the Supervisory Body and termination of office rules	45
	8.3.	Expertise, powers and duties of the Supervisory Body	. 45
	8.3.	1. Confidentiality obligation	47
	8.3.2	2. Powers of self-organisation and criteria for their exercise	47
	8.4.	Reporting of support to the Supervisory Body	. 48
	8.5.	Coordination powers of the Parent Company Supervisory Body	. 50
9	PEN	ALTIES SYSTEM	. 53
	9.1.	General principles for inflicting penalties upon employees	. 53
	9.2.	The penalties system pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01 for employees	. 54
	9.3. foreigr	The penalties system pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01 for employees with a employment contracts	
	9.4. Board	The penalties system pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01 for members of the of Directors and Board of Statutory Auditors	
	9.4.	1 Members of the Board of Directors	
	9.4.2	2 Members of the Board of Statutory Auditors	55
	9.5	The penalties system pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01 for collaborators	. 56
	9.6	The penalties system for employees and senior managers of the foreign subsidiaries	. 56
1	0 P	ROVISION OF INTRAGROUP SERVICES	. 57
	10.1.	Relations between owner and outsourcer in the provision of intragroup services	. 58
1	1 T	RAINING	. 61
SPI	ECIAL	PART	.62

12

1 Introduction

1.1 Purpose

Banco BPM società per azioni is a bank in the form of a public limited company that originated from the merger between Banco Popolare - Società Cooperativa and Banca Popolare di Milano S.c.a.r.l., effective from 1 January 2017.

On the basis of ABI (Italian Banking Association) guidelines on the adoption of organisational models for the administrative liability of banks, issued in February 2004 and as amended in reference to offences introduced at later dates, the bank decided to adopt and effectively implement its own organisation, management and control model suited to preventing the commission of offences referred to in Italian Legislative Decree 231/01 and corresponding with the organisational structure of the newly-established Parent Company, considering this a key element in the overall governance system in that it ensures that business activities are in line with the corporate strategies and policies and based on sound and prudent management principles.

This regulations are composed of:

- a "general part", which summarises the reference regulatory framework and describes the aims of the model, the adoption, amendment and updating process, relations between the bank's model and similar documents of other Group companies, the Supervisory Body, the penalties system, training and provision of intragroup services.
- a "special part" which, in reference to each type of Offence and Crime that the bank has decided to take into consideration due to the characteristics of its business activities, identifies the activities/transactions, transactions at risk and key elements that procedures must have in order to mitigate risks in the aforementioned activities and transactions. For the bank, this special part constitutes the protocol for the purpose of the decree. The special part is supplemented by other regulatory documents which, prepared to define and regulate individual processes typical of the business activities and also inclusive per se of 231 aspects, render the adoption of specific "protocols" superfluous.

1.2 Scope of application and procedures for adoption

The regulations were approved by the Board of Directors of the Parent Company.

The "general part" of the regulations contain guidelines which, in exercising management and coordination activities and without prejudice to the independence of each company, the Parent Company issues to subsidiaries for implementation of the decree.

The regulations and subsequent amendments, after approval by the Parent Company, were adopted by the competent management bodies of the subsidiaries concerned which, each to the extent of their responsibility, decide on adoption of the regulations and guarantee that any of their own internal regulations are consistent with those of the Parent Company.

1.3 Summary of updates

Progression	Updated on	Update contents summary
Initial approval	25/05/2017	
1st update	17/04/2018	Update of the predicate offences referred to in Italian Legislative Decree 231/01 and inclusion of the role of "public servant"
2nd update	17/12/2019	Update of the predicate offences referred to in Italian Legislative Decree 231/01 and deletion of references to the Group IT outsourcer and to BP Property Management, merged into the Parent Company.
3 rd update	16/06/2020	Update of the predicate offences referred to in Italian Legislative Decree 231/01 (article 25-quinquiesdecies).
4 th update	20/10/2020	Update of the predicate offences referred to in Italian Legislative Decree 231/01 (introduction of article 25-sexiesdecies, amendments and new offences against the Public Administration and customs services).

1.4 Glossary

With reference to the fields and aspects governed by the regulations, the terms assume the meanings described below (in alphabetical order in Italian).

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

Senior managers: persons responsible for representation, administration or management of Banco BPM, the Group companies or any of its organisational structures with financial and functional independence, as well as persons who, even de facto, exercise management or control over the bank. For the purpose of these regulations, the bank identifies such persons as the members of the Board of Directors, the standing auditors on the Board of Statutory Auditors, the Chief Executive Officer, Co-General Managers, operations and department heads, heads of the structures reporting directly to bodies delegated by the Board of Directors and the heads of functions identified in the Articles of Association and pursuant to legal or regulatory provisions.

Bank or Parent Company: Banco BPM S.p.A.

Code of Ethics: internal document, adopted by the bank by resolution of its administrative body, in which the ethics principles to be used as standard across all Group business activities are defined.

Collaborators: natural persons or legal entities, other than senior managers and employees, who cooperate with the bank and provide a service solely for the bank (considered "subordinates" pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/2001).

Counterparties: natural persons or legal entities, other than senior managers, employees and collaborators, that have business relations with the bank, excluding ongoing contractual relations qualifying as institutional activities of financial intermediaries and other entities exercising financial activities.

Decree: Italian Legislative Decree no. 231 of 8 June 2001, as amended, as well as regulations that refer specifically to its provisions.

Recipients: parties to which the rules contained in the model apply, i.e.: senior managers and employees. Where the senior managers and employees also include the directors of subsidiaries (Italian or foreign), these are considered recipients of the model as pertaining to the parent company. Collaborators, limited to the general principles on offence prevention, are also equated to recipients.

Employees: individuals operating on the basis of relations that result in their inclusion in the company organisation, also under forms other than employment contracts with the bank and for this reason are subject to management or supervision by senior managers, regardless of the type of contract in place, including executives (considered "subordinates" pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/2001).

Group: Banco BPM and all companies under its direct or indirect control pursuant to article 2359 of the Italian Civil Code.

Model: this organisation, management and control model, which is considered supplemented by the Code of Ethics, the regulatory system prepared to define and regulate individual

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

processes in the core business activities (per se complete and also including "231 aspects"), the system of controls and the system of delegations and powers.

Laws and Regulations: the set of (i) current laws of the country and related implementing measures, including regulations issued and interpretations provided by the competent authorities; (ii) corporate and Group regulations as in force; (iii) applicable NATIONAL PAY AGREEMENTS.

Supervisory Body: the bank's Supervisory Body, appointed pursuant to art. 6, Italian Legislative Decree 231/2001.

Procedure: the coded sequence of internal operating activities, including obligations and information flows, which control how a business activity or transaction is carried out.

Offences: the offences that could render the bank liable as regards corporate administrative liability pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01, to be considered in these regulations as also including administrative offences that could give rise to a similar liability of the bank and for which the model defines suitable prevention principles.

Structure: a central or peripheral structure operating in Italy or abroad (representative offices) with operational independence established in the company's organisational function chart.

TUB: Italian Legislative Decree no. 385 of 1 September 1993 (Consolidated Banking Law).

TUF: Italian Legislative Decree no. 58 of 24 February 1998 (Consolidated Finance Law).

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

General Part

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

2 Italian Legislative Decree no. 231 of 8 June 2001

The decree governs situations of direct liability - of a formally administrative nature - of the entity arising from the commission of certain offences by parties functionally linked to the entity, and envisages the infliction of administrative penalties on that entity.

2.1 Nature and features of corporate liability

The corporate administrative liability for the commission of one of the offences for which such liability is envisaged is in addition to - so not replacing - the liability (criminal or administrative) of the perpetrator.

Corporate liability also exists when the perpetrator has not been identified or the case against the guilty party was dismissed for a reason other than a pardon.

2.2. Types of offence identified by the decree

Corporate liability arises only in the cases and within the limits specifically envisaged by law: the entity "cannot be held liable for an event that constitutes an offence, if its liability ... in relation to that event and the related penalties is not specifically envisaged by law", which entered into force prior to commission of the offence.

The entity cannot be held responsible for the occurrence of any event constituting an offence, but only for the commission of offences specifically envisaged in the decree, in the period in which the offence was committed/attempted, in accordance with the original text of the decree and its later amendments, as well as in laws that make specific reference to the provisions of the decree.

Of particular importance for the purpose of identifying material offences, is Italian Law no. 146 of 16 March 2006, ratifying and implementing the United Nations Convention and Protocols against Transnational Organized Crime, adopted by the UN General Assembly on 15 November 2000 and 31 May 2001, which identifies corporate liability.

Pursuant to article 3 of this law, the offence committed by "an organised crime Group" must be of a transnational nature, i.e.:

- must be committed in one or more countries, or
- must be committed in one country but with a substantial part of its preparation, planning, management or control in another country, or

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

- must be committed in one country but implicating an organised crime group involved in criminal activities in more than one country, or
- must be committed in one country but with substantial effects in another country.

2.3. Objective criteria for the allocation of liability

The commission or related attempt to commit one of the offences indicated in the decree constitute the initial grounds for application of the rules imposed by the decree.

The decree envisages additional objective prerequisites and others of a subjective nature.

A fundamental and essential objective allocation criterion is the fact that the offence is committed "in the interests of or, alternatively, to the benefit of the entity".

This means that corporate liability arises if the unlawful act was committed in the interests of the entity or to its benefit, without any need whatsoever to achieve an effective and real objective. It is therefore a criterion that is substantively based on the purpose - not even exclusive - for which the unlawful act was carried out.

The criterion of benefit instead relates to the positive result objectively drawn by the entity from commission of the offence, regardless of the intentions of the perpetrator.

The entity is not liable, however, if the unlawful act was committed by one of the parties indicated in the decree "solely in their personal interest or that of third parties". This confirms that, if the exclusive interest pursued inhibits any corporate liability from arising, then vice versa liability does arise if the interests are common both to the entity and to the individual or can refer partly to one and partly to the other.

An additional allocation criterion lies in the relationship that effectively identifies the perpetrator with the entity.

The offence must be committed by one or more qualified parties grouped into two categories by the decree. More specifically:

- by persons responsible for representation, administration or management of the entity or any of its organisational structures with financial and functional independence, or by persons who, even de facto, exercise management or control over the entity (the "senior managers");
- by persons under the direction or supervision of one of the senior managers (i.e. "subordinates", who - to be precise - need not merely be employees).

If multiple parties are involved in commission of the offence (giving rise to collusion of individuals in the offence: article 110, Italian Criminal Code; essentially the same applies to a crime), it is not necessary for the "qualified" person to implement all or even part of the typical

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

actions envisaged by law. It is necessary and sufficient that the person provides a knowing causal contribution to the commission of the offence.

2.4. Subjective criteria for the allocation of liability

The decree envisages a series of conditions - some described as positive, others as negative - of a subjective nature (in general, relating to entities) applied as liability arises, which constitute subjective allocation criteria for the unlawful act with which the entity is charged.

In fact, the decree as a whole illustrates corporate liability as a direct liability for which the entity can be guilty per se.

Corporate liability is excluded if - before the offence is committed - the entity has adopted and effectively implemented an organisation, management and control model suitable for preventing the commission of offences such as that perpetrated.

Though not imposed by law as compulsory, the bank decided to adopt a model that complies with the indications in the decree.

2.5. Offences committed by senior managers

For offences committed by persons in "senior" positions, the decree establishes inversion of the onus to prove guilt of the alleged offender, since it envisages the exclusion of liability if it can be shown that:

- "the management body has adopted and effectively implemented, before the offence is committed, organisation and management models suitable for preventing offences of the type committed";
- "the duty of supervising the function and compliance with the models and arranging their updating has been assigned to a body of the entity that has independent powers of initiative and control":
- "the individuals committing the offence fraudulently circumvent the organisation and management models";
- "the body with independent powers of initiative and control has not failed to or insufficiently performed its supervision".

The conditions listed from this point must <u>all contribute jointly</u> in order for corporate liability to be excluded.

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

2.6. Offences committed by individuals as directed by others

For offences committed by individuals under the direction of others (i.e. by persons in a "subordinate" position), the entity can be held liable only if it is confirmed that "commission of the offence was made possible due to failure to comply with management or supervisory obligations".

In other words, the corporate liability is based on failure to perform the duties of management and supervision, duties assigned *by law* to senior management or transferred to other individuals through valid delegation of powers.

The rules state that failure to comply with management or supervisory obligations does not apply "if, before the offence was committed, the entity adopted and effectively implemented an organisation, management and control model suitable for preventing the commission of offences such as that perpetrated".

2.7. Characteristics of the "organisation, management and control model"

The decree does not govern the nature and characteristics of the organisation, management and control model. It is limited to dictating a number of general principles, partially different in relation to the parties that could commit and offence. In particular, it envisages that if the offence is committed by senior managers, the entity is not liable if it can prove that the model satisfies the following needs:

- identifies the activities within which the offences can be committed ("risk mapping");
- envisages specific protocols designed to plan the formation and implementation of the entity's decisions regarding offences to be prevented;
- identifies methods for managing financial resources suitable to preventing the commission of offences;
- envisages reporting obligations to the Body established to supervise the functioning of and compliance with the models;
- introduces a disciplinary system suitable for penalising failure to comply with the measures indicated in the model.

With regard to offences that can be committed by subordinates, the model must envisage: "...in relation to the nature and size of the organisation and the type of activities conducted, measures suitable for ensuring that activities are carried out in compliance with law and for promptly discovering and eliminating risk situations".

The following are envisaged with regard to effective implementation of the model:

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

- "periodic verification and, if necessary, amendment when significant violations of its provisions are discovered or when changes occur in the organisation or business activities":
- "a disciplinary system suitable for penalising failure to comply with the measures indicated in the model".

2.8. Offences committed abroad

Under the terms of article 4 of the decree, the entity can be considered liable, in Italy, for certain offences committed abroad.

The prerequisites on which this liability is based are:

- the offence must have been committed abroad by a party functionally linked to the entity:
 a senior manager or subordinate (according to the terms already discussed above);
- the entity must have its corporate headquarters in Italy;
- the entity can be liable only in the cases and conditions envisaged in articles 7, 8, 9 and 10 of the Italian Criminal Code (and if the law envisages that the guilty individual is punished at the request of the ministry of justice, action is taken against the entity only if the request was also formulated with regard to the entity);
- if the cases and conditions envisaged in the aforementioned articles of the Italian
 Criminal Code are satisfied, the entity will be liable provided that the authorities in the country in which the offence was committed take no action.

2.9. Attempted crime

Corporate administrative liability arises also in a case in which one of the offences referred to in the decree as a source of liability is committed in the form of an attempted crime (article 56, Italian Criminal Code). The penalty inflicted on the entity in a case of a merely attempted predicate offence, pursuant to article 26, Italian Legislative Decree 231/2001, envisages a reduction of one third to a half of that for the entity.

2.10. Penalties

The penalties system envisaged by the decree involves fines and prohibitive penalties.

The administrative penalties applying to the entity are prescribed as a period of five years from the date the offence was committed. If other unlawful acts are committed in the meantime, a new prohibitive period begins.

Page 13

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

Latest update: 20 October 2020

2.10.1. Fines

Unlike that envisaged under the rest of the criminal and administrative law, the fine is determined by the court through a "quota" system. Every offence envisages a minimum and a maximum quota, the monetary value of which is then determined by the court (from a minimum \leqslant 258.00 to a maximum \leqslant 1,549.00 per quota), taking into account the "economic and financial conditions of the entity", in terms sufficient to ensure the effectiveness of the penalty.

The administrative financial penalty is inflicted: (i) by the criminal court or the court competent to judge the perpetrator of a criminal act pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01; (ii) by the administrative authority in cases in which corporate liability is envisaged for an administrative offence committed "in its interest or to its benefit¹".

If corporate liability is confirmed, the fine is always applied.

Reduced fines are envisaged if the perpetrator committed the offence primarily in their own interest or that of third parties and the entity did not benefit or achieved a minimum benefit, and when the damage caused is particularly slight.

Furthermore, the fine deriving from the offence is reduced by one third to a half if, before the opening announcement in first instance proceedings:

- the entity has fully compensated the damage and has eliminated the damaging or dangerous consequences of the offence or has in any event effectively taken action to do so:
- an organisation, management and control model has been adopted and effectively implemented, suitable for preventing the commission of offences such as that perpetrated.

For the offences referred to in article 187 of the Consolidated Finance Law, if the product or gain achieved by the entity is significant, the fine is increased by up to ten times the amount of such product or gain.

The fine is instead increased by one third if - from commission of the offences referred to in article 25-*ter* - the entity achieved a significant gain.

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

_

¹ With reference to the provisions of art. 187-quinquies of Italian Legislative Decree no. 58 of 24 February 1998 ("Consolidated Law on Financial Intermediation") as subsequently amended and integrated.

2.10.2. Prohibitive penalties

The prohibitive penalties apply in addition to fines and constitute the strongest reactions imposed.

The prohibitive penalties envisaged in the decree are:

- a temporary or permanent ban on exercising business activities;
- the suspension or cancellation of authorisations, licences or concessions used to commit the offence;
- the ban on contracting with Public Administration, except to request a public service as beneficiary;
- the exclusion from benefits, loans, contributions or subsidies and potential cancellation of any already granted;
- a temporary or permanent ban on advertising goods or services.

Prohibitive penalties apply only in the cases specifically envisaged and provided at least one of the following conditions is satisfied:

- the entity has profited significantly from the offence and the offence was committed:
 - by a senior manager;
 - by a subordinate, if commission of the offence was facilitated by serious organisational shortcomings;
- repetition of the crimes.

The prohibitive penalties are normally temporary, but as an exception can be applied with permanent effect.

At the request of the public prosecutor, the court can inflict prohibitive penalties on the entity also as a precautionary measure, if there are serious indications that the entity is liable and there are confirmed and specific elements sufficient to consider there is a real danger that offences of the same nature as that referred to in proceedings have been committed.

The Consolidated Banking Law envisages that prohibitive penalties cannot be inflicted upon banks as a precautionary measure.

The same regulations establish a flow of information between the public prosecutor, the Bank of Italy and Consob regarding any proceedings opened against a bank.

The prohibitive penalties do not apply (or are revoked if already inflicted as a precautionary measure) when, before the opening announcement in first instance proceedings, the following conditions are satisfied:

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

- the entity has fully compensated the damage and has eliminated the damaging or dangerous consequences of the offence or has in any event effectively taken action to do so:
- the entity has eliminated the organisational shortcomings that led to the offence, by adopting and implementing organisation, management and control models suitable for preventing the commission of offences such as that perpetrated;
- the entity has made the profit achieved available for sequestration;
- the perpetrator committed the offence primarily in their own or third party interest and the entity did not gain or achieved only a minimal gain;
- the resulting financial loss is particularly slight.

If all the conduct referred to above has been adopted - considered to be voluntary redemption - a fine rather than a prohibitive penalty is inflicted.

2.10.3. Other penalties

In addition to the fines and prohibitive penalties, the decree envisages another two types of penalty:

- sequestration, consisting in the State acquiring part of the price or gain from the offence (or, if sequestration cannot be performed directly on the price or gain from the offence, in apprehending sums of money, assets or other items of value equating to that price or gain);
- publishing of the conviction on the web site of the Ministry of Justice, as well as on the noticeboard of the municipality in which the entity's registered office is located.

2.11. Entity-changing events

The decree governs corporate liability in a case of changing events (transformation, merger, demerger and business transfer).

In general terms, it establishes that "the obligation to pay the fine" inflicted on the entity "applies solely to the entity, from its own assets or mutual fund".

Any direct financial liability of shareholders or associates, regardless of the legal nature of the entity, is therefore excluded.

The general criteria for inflicting fines on the entity are those established by civil law on the liability of an entity that is transformed due to the debt of the original entity.

The prohibitive penalties remain the liability of the entity which retained (or into which was merged) the business unit in which the offence was committed, without prejudice to the option of the post-transformation entity to obtain conversion of the prohibitive penalty into a

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

fine, as soon as the post-merger or post-demerger reorganisation process has eliminated the organisational shortcomings that made commission of the offence possible.

The decree states that, in a case of "transformation of an entity, liability remains for offences committed prior to the effective date of the transformation".

Changes to the legal structure (company name, legal format, etc.) are irrelevant to corporate liability: the new entity will be the recipient of penalties applying to the original entity for offences committed prior to the transformation.

As regards the potential effects of mergers and demergers, the post-merger entity, whatever the merger format, "is held liable for offences for which the entities involved in the merger were liable". When the post-merger entity takes over the legal relations of the merged entities and the related business activities are consolidated, including those within which the offences were committed, the liability is transferred to the post-merger entity.

If the merger occurred prior to the conclusion of proceedings that pronounce corporate liability, the court must take into account the economic conditions of the original entity and not those of the post-merger entity.

In the case of a partial demerger, when the demerger transfers only a part of the assets of the demerged entity, which continues to exist, liability remains with the demerged entity for offences committed prior to the demerger. The collective beneficiary entities of the demerger, which received (all or part) of the assets of the demerged entity, are jointly liable for payment of the fines owed by the demerged entity for offences committed prior to the demerger. This obligation is limited to the value of the assets transferred: such limits do not apply to the beneficiary entities that take over - even if only in part - the business unit within which the offence was committed.

Lastly, the decree governs cases of business disposal or transfer. For the disposal or transfer of a company within which the offence was committed, the transferee is jointly liable with the transferring entity for payment of the fine, to the extent of the value of the company transferred and without prejudice to the right to prior enforcement of the transferring entity.

The liability of the transferee - in addition to being limited to the value of the company sold (or transferred) - is also limited to the fines recorded in compulsory accounting records, i.e. due for offences of which the transferee was in any event aware.

2.12. Predicate offences and other crimes

2.12.1. The original corpus of predicate offences

The decree envisages certain groups of offences which can give rise to corporate liability.

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

The "governance of administrative liability of legal entities, companies and associations, including those lacking legal personality, pursuant to art. 11 of Italian Law no. 300 of 29 September 2000", as issued through Italian legislative decree no. 231 of 8 June 2001, originally introduced the following articles: 24 "improper receipt of funds, fraud against the State or a public entity or for the purpose of obtaining public funds and computer fraud against the State or a public entity" and 25 "bribery and corruption".

2.12.2. Subsequent implementation of the group of predicate offences

The number of offences under Italian law was later expanded by:

- 1. Legislative Decree no. 350 of 25 September 2001, which introduced article **25- bis** "counterfeiting of coins, legal tender and revenue stamps";
- 2. Legislative Decree no. 61 of 11 April 2002, which introduced article **25-ter**, "corporate offences";
- 3. Law no. 7 of 14 January 2003, which introduced article **25-quater** "terrorist offences or crimes to subvert the public order";
- 4. Law no. 228 of 11 August 2003, which introduced article **25-quinquies** "crimes against the person";
- 5. Law no. 62 of 18 April 2005, which introduced article **25-sexies**, "market abuse" (crimes and related administrative offences);
- 6. Law no. 262 of 28 December 2005, which added the offence referred to in article 2629-bis of the Italian Civil Code "failure to report conflict of interest" to article 25-ter and doubled the fines envisaged in article 25-ter;
- 7. Law no. 7 of 9 January 2006, which introduced article **25-quater.1** "female genital mutilation practices";
- 8. Law no. 38 of 6 February 2006, which amended article 25-quinquies, paragraph 1, letters b) and c) by extending the regulations to include pornographic material referred to in article 600-quater of the Italian Criminal Code;
- 9. Legislative Decree no. 231 of 21 November 2007, which implemented Directive 2005/60/EC on preventing the use of the financial system for the purpose of laundering the gains from criminal activities and for terrorism financing, introducing article **25-octies** "receiving stolen goods, money laundering and the use of money, goods or other proceeds from crime";
- 10. Law no. 48 of 18 March 2008 (ratification and implementation of the Council of Europe Convention on Cybercrime, signed in Budapest on 23 November 2001 and the rules for transposition to Italian law), which introduced article 24-bis "cybercrimes and unlawful data processing";
- 11. Legislative Decree no. 81 of 9 April 2008, implementing article 1, Law no. 123 of 3 August 2007 on occupational health and safety, which introduced article **25-septies** "manslaughter or actual or grievous bodily harm committed in violation of the regulations on occupational health and safety";

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

- 12. Law no. 94 of 15 July 2009 (provisions on public safety) which, after article 24-bis of the decree, added article **24-ter** "cases of organised crime";
- 13. Law no. 99 of 23 July 2009 (provisions on business development and internationalisation, as well as on energy) which:
- supplemented article 25-bis of the decree with the crimes referred to in articles 473 and 474 of the Italian Criminal Code and amended the heading of the article to: "counterfeiting of coins, legal tender, revenue stamps, identification instruments and distinctive signs";
- after article 25-bis of the decree, added article **25-bis.1** "trade and industry offences":
- after article 25-octies of the decree, added article **25-novies** "violation of copyright offences";
- 14. Law no. 116 of 3 August 2009 (ratification and implementation of the United Nations Convention against Corruption, adopted by the UN General Assembly on 31 October 2003 by Resolution no. 58/4, signed by Italy on 9 December 2003, as well as transposition rules to Italian law and amendments to the Italian Criminal Code and Code of Criminal Procedure), which after article 25-novies of the decree introduced article 25-decies "incitement not to provide testimony or to give false testimony to judicial authorities";
- 15. Legislative Decree no. 121 of 7 July 2011 (implementing Directive 2008/99/EC on protection of the environment through criminal law, as well as Directive 2009/123/EC which amends Directive 2005/35/EC on ship-source pollution and on the introduction of penalties for infringements), which after article 25-decies of the decree introduced article **25-undecies** "environmental offences";
- 16. Legislative Decree no. 109 of 16 July 2012 (implementing Directive 2009/52/EC which provides minimum standards on sanctions and measures against employers of illegally staying third-country nationals), which after article 25-undecies of the decree introduced article 25-duodecies "employment of illegally staying third-country nationals";
- 17. Law no. 190 of 6 November 2012 (provisions for the prevention and repression of corruption and unlawfulness in Public Administration), which with article 77 amends:
- the heading to article 25 of the decree, after "bribery" adding the words "illicit incitement to give or promise gains". As a result of this amendment, the header to article 25 of the decree reads as follows: "bribery, illicit incitement to give or promise gains";
- the body of the text of article 25 of the decree, adding in paragraph 3 a reference to the new "article 319-quater of the Italian Criminal Code";
- the body of the text of article 25-ter of the decree, adding the following in paragraph 1, after letter s): "s-bis) for the crime of private-to-private corruption, in cases envisaged in article 2635, paragraph 3 of the Italian Civil Code";
- 18. Law no. 6 of 6 February 2014, converting with amendments Law Decree no. 136 of 10 December 2013, which introduced article 256-bis to the "environmental code" envisaging the offence of "illegal burning of waste";

- 19. Legislative Decree no. 39 of 4 March 2014, which extended the crimes referred to in article 25-quinquies of the decree to include that of article 609-undecies of the Criminal Code "child grooming";
- 20. Law no. 62 of 17 April 2014, which amended article 416-ter of the Criminal Code: "electoral exchange between politicians and the mafia";
- 21. Law no. 186 of 15 December 2014 (provisions on the exposure and repatriation of capital held abroad, as well as to enhance the fight against tax evasion. Provisions on self-money laundering) which (after article 648-ter of the Criminal Code), with article 3 paragraph 3, added article 648-ter.1, extending the corpus of predicate offences referred to in article 25-octies of the decree to include "self-laundering", and amending the header to "receiving stolen goods, money laundering and the use of money, goods or other proceeds from crime, as well as self-laundering";
- 22. Law no. 68 of 22 May 2015 (provisions on environmental offences), which extended the corpus of predicate offences referred to in article 25-undecies of the decree by introducing the following cases: "environmental pollution" (article 452-bis of the Criminal Code), "environmental disaster" (article 452-quater of the Criminal Code), "environmental offences with criminal intent" (article 452-quinquies of the Criminal Code) and "trafficking and dumping of highly radioactive material" (article 452-sexies of the Criminal Code);
- 23. Law no. 69 of 27 May 2015 (provisions on crimes against Public Administration, mafia-type association and false accounting), which made changes to the crime of "bribery", a predicate offence referred to in article 25 of the decree, and the offence of "false financial disclosures" in article 25-ter of the decree, with particular regard to the offence of "false accounting";
- 24. Law no. 199 of 29 October 2016 (provisions on the fight against undeclared labour, exploitation of agricultural labour and pay realignment in the agricultural sector), which amended the offence of "illegal brokering and exploitation of labour" (article 603-bis, Italian Criminal Code) and supplemented article 25-quinquies of the decree on "crimes against the person";
- 25. Law no. 236 of 11 December 2016 (amendments to the Italian Criminal Code and to Law no. 91 of 1 April 1999 on transplant organ trafficking, as well as to Law no. 458 of 26 June 1967 on kidney transplants between living persons), which amended the offence of "criminal association" (article 416 of the Italian Criminal Code) referred to in article 24-ter "cases of organised crime" in the decree;
- 26. Legislative Decree no. 38 of 17 March 2017, which amended the offence of private-to-private corruption and extended the corpus of predicate offences referred to in article 25-*ter* of the decree, introducing the case of incitement to corruption (article 2635-*bis*, Italian Civil Code);
- 27. Law no. 161 of 17 October 2017, which introduced additional crimes to article 25-duodecies of Italian Legislative Decree 231/01 in relation to illegal immigration pursuant to article 12, Italian Legislative Decree 286/1998 and regarding aiding and abetting illegal entry and facilitating illegal immigration;

Legislative Decree 231/01

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian

- 28. Law no. 167 of 20 November 2017 (provisions on compliance with obligations deriving from Italy's membership of the European Union the 2017 European Law), which introduced to article 25-terdecies to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01 the racism and xenophobia offences referred to in article 3, paragraph 2, Law no. 654 of 13 October 1975, later included in article 604-bis of the Criminal Code propaganda and incitement to commit offences for racial, ethnic and religious discrimination purposes introduced by Legislative Decree no. 21 of 1 March 2018:
- 29. Law no. 3 of 9 January 2019 (provisions on combating offences against Public Administration, as well as on the statute of limitations on such offences and on transparency in political parties and movements), which amended articles 13 (paragraph 2), 25 (paragraphs 1, 5, 5-bis), 51 (paragraphs 1 and 2) of Italian Legislative Decree 231/01, introducing the predicate offences of article 346-bis of the Italian Criminal Code (unlawful influence trading) and the reasons for non-punishment pursuant to article 323-ter of the Criminal Code, amending articles 2635 and 2635-bis of the Italian Civil Code and articles 316-ter, 318, 322-bis and 346-bis of the Criminal Code;
- 30. Law no. 39 of 3 May 2019 (ratification and implementation of the Council of Europe Convention on the Manipulation of Sports Competitions, signed in Magglingen on 18 September 2014), which introduced article 25-quaterdecies to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01 (fraud in sports competitions, illegal gambling or betting operations and gambling using forbidden devices);
- 31. Law no. 133 of 18 November 2019, converting with amendments Law Decree no. 105/2019, which contained urgent measures on the scope of national cybersecurity and added the crimes referred to in article 1, paragraph 11 of the aforementioned Law Decree to article 24-bis ("Cybercrimes and unlawful data processing") in Italian Legislative Decree 231/2001.
- 32. Italian Legislative Decree no. 124 of 26 October 2019 (Measures to counter evasion of tax and social security contributions and tax fraud), converting with amendments Law Decree no. 157 of 19 December 2019, which introduced art. **25 quinquiesdecies**, relating to tax offences.
- 33. Italian Legislative Decree no. 75 of 14 July 2020 which implements EU Directive 2017/1371 relative to the fight against fraud affecting the financial interests of the Union through criminal law which introduced art. 25 sexiesdecies, relating to contraband and has modified and introduced new offences in articles 24 and 25 of Italian Legislative Decree no. 231/01 (offences against the Public Administration) and article 25 quinquiesdecies (tax offences).

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

2.12.3. Further provisions contained in other Italian regulatory measures

- 34. Law no. 146 of 16 March 2006 (ratifying and implementing, of the United Nations convention and protocols against transnational organized crime, adopted by the UN General Assembly on 15 November 2000 and 31 May 2001) with reference to article 3 "definition of transnational offence" and article 10 "corporate administrative liability";
- 35. Legislative Decree no. 58 of 24 February 1998 (Consolidated Law on Financial Intermediation, pursuant to articles 8 and 21 of Italian Law no. 52 of 6 February 1996) with reference to article 187-quinquies "corporate liability" as later amended by Italian Legislative Decree no. 107 of 10 August 2018.

The headings for all offences contemplated in the decree are indicated in the document "catalogue of offences and crimes pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01" which is updated, made available in the 231 document repository on the corporate Intranet and forms an integral part of the model.

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

Page 22

20 October 2020

Latest update:

3 Nature of the model

With adoption of the model, the bank intends to satisfy the provisions of law, complying with the guiding principles of the decree, corporate governance codes and the recommendations of the Supervisory Authorities, as well as to make the control and corporate governance systems more effective, particularly with regard to the objective of preventing the commission of offences envisaged in the decree and in laws that make specific reference to it.

The model has the following objectives:

- awareness of the activities that present a risk of committing offences significant to the bank:
- awareness of the rules and protocols governing activities at risk;
- suitable, effective information to recipients on the methods and procedures to be adopted when carrying out activities at risk;
- awareness of the disciplinary consequences that they or the bank could face as a result of violation of legal, regulatory or internal bank regulation provisions;
- dissemination, personal adoption and strong consolidation of a business culture based on lawfulness, aware of the bank's specific condemnation of all conduct that is contrary to law, regulations, corporate governance, Supervisory Authority instructions, internal regulations and, in particular, the provisions contained in the model;
- dissemination, personal adoption and strong consolidation of a culture of control, which must supervise the achievement of objectives imposed by the bank over time - solely on the basis of decisions duly adopted by the competent corporate bodies;
- efficient and balanced organisation of the bank, with particular regard to the clear allocation of powers, forming of decisions and their transparency and justification, the prior and subsequent controls of documents and activities, as well as the fairness and truthfulness of internal and external information.

The provisions of the model supplement those of the Code of Ethics adopted by the banks and forming an essential basis thereof.

This model constitutes a bank regulation that is binding on the bank itself and on the recipients to which it applies.

Page 23

20 October 2020

Latest update:

4 Subjective scope of application of the model

The rules contained in the model apply to the recipients, who are obliged to comply with all its provisions, also in satisfying the duties of loyalty, fairness and diligence arising from legal relations established with the bank.

The bank condemns and disciplines any conduct that does not comply with the law, provisions of the model and the Code of Ethics, and likewise conduct that is adopted with a view to circumventing the aforementioned provisions, also if the conduct is adopted in the conviction that it pursues, even only in part, the interests of the bank or is with the intention of benefiting the bank.

The bank disseminates the model by methods suitable for guaranteeing real awareness from all the recipients, who are required to ensure the broadest possible commitment and maximum professionalism in their assigned duties. Publication in the "Regulations" section of the corporate Intranet is the moment in which the model and all regulations relevant for the purpose of provisions of the decree are considered issued to the recipients and become operationally effective. At the time of recruitment, new recruits receive instructions to access the regulations section of the corporate Intranet to become fully aware of the model and undertake to comply with the related provisions, signing a specific declaration to this effect.

At the time of signing a contract, collaborators receive the summary document of the model, Code of Ethics and anti-corruption policies.

Compliance with the contents of the model is also guaranteed in reference to:

- the general part, by collaborators' acceptance of a contractual clause in which they confirm their awareness of the decree;
- the special part, by the supervisory duties of outsourced activity contacts assigned to supervision of the operations of collaborators.

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

5 The bank's model

5.1. Development of the model

The bank was established on 1 January 2017 as a result of the merger between Banco Popolare and Banca Popolare di Milano.

Both Banco Popolare and Banca Popolare di Milano had adopted their own organisation, management and control models, adapting to changes as they arose in the legal and regulatory system and in their corporate structures, organisation or activities.

From its establishment, the bank decided to adopt and effectively implement a model suitable to preventing the commission of offences.

The methodological approach adopted to define the model was adapted to the new organisation as a Group made up of numerous and differing companies. The model takes into account this complexity and guarantees standardisation within the Group, without prejudice to the specific responsibilities of the various legal entities and the independence and autonomy of the respective Supervisory Bodies, where envisaged.

As the monitoring of risks originating from the decree is guaranteed by the model and also by the overall regulatory system which, prepared to define and regulate individual core business processes, including measures to mitigate the risk of commission of the offences, from the date the new bank was created the continuity and compliance of its operations and controls is ensured.

Internal regulations were later subject to gradual improvements, harmonisation and streamlining consistent with the overall development of the new Group. These regulations, which as mentioned previously also include that relating to activities at risk pursuant to the decree, are suitably adjusted as required in order to:

- change in a manner consistent with developments in the organisational structures, processes and procedures as regards definition and implementation of the target model;
- enhance the wealth of knowledge in terms of internal policies, rules and regulations that guide and govern the formation and implementation of decisions relating to the offences to be prevented;
- manage corporate operating rules using unambiguous criteria, including the rules relating to areas at risk pursuant to the decree.

With reference to the mapping of at-risk areas and activities, this was initially based on that of the former parent company Banco Popolare and Banca Popolare di Milano, in line with the substantial continuity of processes and operations on start-up of the new Parent Company and later implemented on consolidation of the bank's organisational structure, applying the general methodology described below and consistent with indications in sector guidelines, best practices, legal theory and case law.

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

5.2. Organisational management

Maintenance of the model is arranged by the Organisational function of the Parent Company, which can make use of support from the Audit, Compliance, Legal and Regulatory Affairs functions of the Parent Company and all other functions to the extent of their responsibilities, in order to pursue the following objectives:

- start and manage the model updating process in relation to changes in 231/01 provisions identified as part of the business processes for monitoring external regulations, when there are substantial changes to the business model or organisational structure sufficient to change or redistribute the risks of committing offences;
- define and maintain a standard approach to consistently recording and assessing risks in a manner compliant with regulations, and with indications formulated by case law and banking system best practices;
- report to the Board of Directors, to top line management (to the extent of their responsibility) and to the Supervisory Body of the bank on the results of risk assessment activities, including any improvement actions for the controls to ensure the overall effectiveness of the control system.

5.3. Mapping of the areas/activities at risk

The mapping is performed on the basis of an examination of internal documents, in particular:

- the corporate organisational function chart which shows the structures, the reporting architecture and the responsibilities assigned to each;
- the resolutions and reports of the administrative and control bodies and the Supervisory
- updates to the corporate and Group regulatory systems;
- the system of delegations and powers;
- the system of controls:
- the reports from structures regarding changes to their own procedures for effective implementation of the model;

as well as external sources, and in particular:

- developments in legislation on corporate administrative liability;
- regulations, for profiles of respective responsibility, of the European Central Bank, Bank of Italy, Consob and other designated supervisory authorities;
- indications contained in ABI (Italian banking association) guidelines and any other relevant sector guidelines.

Risk mapping is carried out only from activities carried out directly by the bank (or for other Group companies) and not also for those outsourced to other Group companies, for which

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01 Page 26

Latest update: 20 October 2020 risk identification and the establishment of mitigation measures is the responsibility of the outsourcers.

However, as the bank is liable for any offence that might be committed in its interest or to its benefit, through the Parent Company Organisational function the Group outsourcers make documentation available to the bank (the mapping results, specific special parts of their own model and any other regulations of importance in governing corporate administrative liability) in relation to the activities managed on the bank's behalf, so that the set of findings of all those involved in development of an entire process (multiple structures of the bank, the bank itself and the outsourcer, multiple structures of a single outsourcer or multiple outsourcers) places the bank - as *owner* - in a position of having an integrated and systematic map that allows:

- overall census of "231 risks" that must be included in the special parts of the model;
- assessment of the adequacy as a whole of controls put in place to mitigate its own risks and those attributable to the outsources used for the provision of specific services;
- identification and monitoring of the action that has to be taken to mitigate the risks as detected overall. In this respect, the bank:
 - as owner, monitors the level of service received, detecting and reporting to the outsourcers without delay on events that can be deemed an alleged violation or a risk of violating 231 regulations;
 - as outsourcer (where appropriate), periodically arranges reporting on the implementation status of improvement action planned with regard to activities carried out for other Group companies.

Without prejudice to the above, for each structure the *Organisational function* of the Parent Company, where necessary with support from other competent corporate functions, sets up a dedicated work group to:

- prepare risk assessment sheets that cover all the responsibilities as defined in the organisational function chart;
- use as reference the offences contemplated in the decree as at the mapping project start date;
- meet with the heads of the organisational structures to verify the completeness of their assigned responsibilities and that the risks/offences concerned match those responsibilities, as indicated in the risk assessment sheet submitted to them following pre-analysis of the available documentation and information.

The latter are responsible for:

 the execution, operational success and effective application of the processes over time, proposing amendments to the procedures under their responsibility when such changes appear necessary for efficient implementation of the model;

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

- verifying the existence and proposing remedies to the Organisational function for any shortcomings in the regulations that could give rise to foreseeable risks of offences being committed within the scope of activities under their responsibility;
- reporting any irregular situations or anomalous conduct to the Supervisory Body;
- ensuring constant updating of the risk assessment sheet and making this available to the Supervisory Body;
- taking action on forms to:
 - supplement them with information regarding: (i) the frequency with which a responsibility is implemented, (ii) assessment of the adequacy of specific controls put in place for risk/offence mitigation;
 - amend them (if considered necessary) with regard to the contents included by the work group;
 - submit their own observations;
 - share the contents (also after discussion with the work group as necessary) and sign them to acknowledge awareness of the 231/01 risks intrinsic to their responsibilities and to those of the structures under their responsibility;
 - return them to the Organisational function.

With regard to the activities for preparation of the risk assessment sheets referred to in previous points, the work group takes into account the possible means by which offences can be committed in the various business areas. In particular:

- provides examples of the cases and opportunities for offences that can arise in the internal and external operating contexts with which the corporate structures relate;
- assesses risks by correlating them to their potential materiality (under the terms of the decree) in the real and actual business framework (institutional and corporate) of the bank and in line with the methodological approach adopted;
- takes into account the bank's past affairs (also referring to events affecting companies later merged into the bank), those of other Group companies, other entities operating in the same sector and instructions contained in sector guidelines issued by the Italian banking association.

On completion of the above activities which, as already mentioned, are supplemented by constant support activities and discussion with the heads of structure, the work group goes on to examine the risk assessment sheets which:

- result in independent identification of risks, where indications from the structures after changes to the sheets submitted proved insufficiently motivated, which are formally communicated to the heads of the aforementioned structure in the consolidated sheets returned on completion of the mapping procedures;
- through systematic and cumulative reading of the findings, allows harmonisation and standardisation of the risks based on whether their degree of materiality is low or high;
- ensures impartiality in the risk assessment and subsequent gap analysis.

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

The business areas potentially exposed to the risk of commission of offences referred to in 231 regulations are included in the report on the census and assessment of risks prepared by the Supervisory Body on completion of the mapping activities for the structures that have the precedence, for the General Management and for the Board of Directors on termination of the risk assessment activities.

The risk assessment activities, as described above, must be considered integrated with cases or opportunities for offences detected for the Management committees and those delegated by the articles of association, the corporate Bodies and the delegated subjects..

The mapping approach allows the identification of links between sensitive activities referred to in the special parts of the model and each corporate function exposed to a given offence risk, offering every recipient a clear view of the risks to which they are exposed, their personal role and the rules governing their work.

The mapping documentation, which forms an integral part of the model, is made available in a specific repository on the corporate network:

- of the bank's Body;
- of the Body of Group companies on whose behalf the bank acts as outsourcer.

The monitoring of areas and activities at risk of committing offences assumes verification of compliance with the model will be carried out every three years or, in any event, when significant changes occur:

- in the legal and regulatory system, external or internal, governing the activities;
- in the corporate structure or its organisation or activities:
- in its activities or its goods or services offered to customers, including financial instruments or products;
- if previously undetected risks should emerge.

In such cases, a review is arranged of the mapping of business processes and activities in which the risk of committing one of the offences specifically referred to in the decree could arise.

5.4. The regulatory system, the system of delegations and the control system required by the model

The bank takes maximum care in the overall definition of its organisational structures, procedures, regulations and control systems so as to ensure efficiency, effectiveness and transparency in its activities and in the assignment of related responsibilities.

Based on applicable primary and regulatory provisions, the bank has adopted a complex system of rules with the function of:

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

- organising the system of delegations and powers;
- regulating activities carried out within the bank;
- managing relations between the various players in the control system;
- governing information flows between members of the business organisation and the Group;

which form the precepts of a model based on the decree and which is defined and constantly monitored to ensure the compliance with regulatory provisions to which the bank is subject in its capacity as bank, parent company and listed company.

This set of special regulations, as well as their supervision, for profiles of respective responsibility, of the European Central Bank, Bank of Italy, Consob and other designated supervisory authorities, also constitute an effective tool for controlling the prevention of unlawful conduct in general, including that envisaged by regulations on corporate administrative liability.

The monitoring of risks originating from the decree is therefore ensured by this model and by the regulatory system described in the next paragraph, the control system and the system of delegations and powers, which form an integral and substantive part of the model.

5.4.1. The Group regulatory system

The regulatory system aims to ensure:

- compliance with corporate strategies and the achievement of effectiveness and efficiency of business processes;
- safeguarding of asset values and protection against losses;
- reliability and integrity of the accounting and management information;
- compliance of transactions with the law and supervisory regulations, as well as with business policies and plans.

It comprises:

- governance documents that govern the bank's operations;
- stricter operating rules (including the model) which also including 231 aspects per se constitute protocols for the purpose of governing corporate administrative liability.

The contents of the instruments listed above are not discussed in detail in the model, but form part of the broader system of organisation, management and control that it intends to integrate and with which senior managers and employees are expected to comply.

The regulatory corpus, contained and catalogued in a dedicated document repository of the corporate intranet, is monitored by a specific supervisory function of the Parent Company, which is also responsible for supervising the overall regulatory process, whose final action -

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

publishing on the corporate intranet - is the moment in which the regulatory document is considered delivered to its target structures and becomes operationally effective.

The internal rules and the management and operational interactions between the various Group members are governed by formal operating mechanisms outlined in the management and coordination regulations.

5.4.2. The system of delegations and powers

The purpose of the bank is to collect deposits and exercise credit, in its various form, both directly and through subsidiaries.

In compliance with current provisions and after obtaining the necessary authorisations, Banco BPM, both directly and through subsidiaries, can perform all banking, financial and insurance transactions and services, including the setup and management of open and closed pension funds, as well as other activities permitted to credit institutions including the issue of bonds, financing activities regulated by special laws and the purchase and sale of business credit.

The bank adopts the traditional administration and control system, pursuant to article 2380-bis et seq. of the Italian Civil Code. It therefore operates through a Board of Directors and a Board of Statutory Auditors.

Role of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is responsible for the strategic supervision and management of the company. To this end, the Board of Directors can undertake all transactions necessary, useful or in any event appropriate to achieving the corporate purpose, whether they refer to ordinary or extraordinary administration.

The Board of Directors delegates the current management of the company to the Chief Executive Officer, who operates in compliance with the general plans and strategic guidelines established by the Board of Directors.

In addition to matters that by law cannot be delegated, the Board of Directors is responsible for those listed in the bank's articles of association.

In compliance with article 2436 of the Italian Civil Code, the Board of Directors is also responsible for decisions concerning mergers in cases envisaged in articles 2505 and 2505-bis of the Italian Civil Code, demergers in cases envisaged in article 2506-ter, final paragraph of the Italian Civil Code, share capital decreases in the event of shareholder withdrawal, pursuant to article 2365, paragraph 2 of the Italian Civil Code, the establishment and closure of branch offices other than those indicated in the articles of association, in any event

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

excluding the establishment of new administrative offices and the closure of that statutorily envisaged.

For certain categories of actions and business, the Board of Directors can delegate specific powers, in forms permitted by law, to executives the heads of individual branches and other personnel, determining the limits and methods for exercise of the delegated powers and envisaging whether the nominees can act independently or as part of committees. Unless otherwise established in the delegation of powers, decisions adopted by the delegated bodies must be reported to the delegating body. Decisions adopted by other holders of delegated powers must be reported to the immediately higher body in accordance with methods indicated in specific regulations decided by the Board of Directors.

Internal committees of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors establishes the following internal committees, approving the regulations that determine their responsibilities and functions, in compliance with regulatory provisions in force. These committees are each vested with functions and duties as envisaged in laws and regulations in force and in the corporate governance code of Borsa Italiana S.p.A.:

- Appointments Committee;
- Remuneration Committee:
- Internal Control and Risks Committee:
- Related Parties Committee.

In any event, the Board of Directors has the right to establish additional committees with advisory, investigative and propositional powers, preparing specific regulations as appropriate.

Delegated bodies and functions

The Chief Executive Officer

The Board of Directors appoints a Chief Executive Officer from among its members, attributing certain powers and duties of the Board of Directors pursuant to article 2381, paragraph 2 of the Italian Civil Code. The Chief Executive Officer's responsibilities and powers are listed in the bank's articles of association.

In cases of extreme urgency, after consulting the Chairman of the Board of Directors the Chief Executive Officer can adopt decisions regarding any transaction under Board of Directors responsibility, provided these are not inescapably attributed directly to the Board of Directors by law or statutory provisions and provided the transactions in question are governed by procedures adopted pursuant to article 2391-bis of the Italian Civil Code, in such cases without prejudice to the compliance with special provisions prescribed by such

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

procedures for urgent transactions. In any event, decisions adopted in this manner must be brought to the attention of the Board of Directors in writing at the first available meeting.

At least quarterly, the Chief Executive Officer reports to the Board of Directors on the general business performance and outlook, as well as on transactions of greater importance carried out by the company and the subsidiaries.

General Management

The bank's General Management is at present composed of two Co-General Managers whose appointment, termination or replacement (as well as the determination or amendment of their powers, functions and duties) is decided by the Board of Directors, at the proposal of the Chief Executive Officer and after consulting the Chairman of the Board of Directors.

Senior operations and executive officers

The executive management structure of the bank currently envisages two officer reporting directly to the Chief Executive Officer: the Chief Financial Officer and the Chief Lending Officer.

The structures

The structures operate on the basis of specific regulations (company and Group) which define the respective areas of competence and responsibility.

These regulations are catalogued in a specific document repository which is disseminated within the bank via the corporate intranet and is constantly updated by the competent functions. It follows that the decision-making and implementing processes regarding the bank's operations are coded, can be monitored and are known to the entire organisational structure.

Executive personnel and employees with delegated powers, or to which specific duties have been attributed as part of their work activities to be carried out in their assigned structures, are responsible for complying with general and special laws, the Articles of Association and decisions of the corporate boards and committees.

The option to delegate powers is exercised through a transparent process, constantly monitored, at a level based on the role and position covered by the nominee.

The corporate signature methods are also formalised for deeds, contracts, documents and correspondence, whether external or internal. In particular, except in relation to special powers delegated *ad personam* and specific provisions established to facilitate the transactions for which a single signature is permitted, documents issued by the bank must be jointly signed by two persons.

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

Role of the Board of Statutory Auditors

The Board of Statutory Auditors performs the duties and exercises the control functions envisaged in regulations in force, and in particular supervises:

- compliance with legal, regulatory and statutory provisions as well as with the principles of sound administration;
- the adequacy of the organisational and administrative-accounting structure of the company and the financial reporting process, for aspects under its responsibility;
- the effectiveness and adequacy of the system of risk management and control, internal audit and the operations and adequacy of the entire internal control system;
- the statutory audit process for annual and consolidated accounts;
- the methods for actual implementation of the corporate governance rules with which the company confirms its compliance;
- the adequacy of instructions given by the company to subsidiaries in its exercise of management and coordination activities;
- the independence of the auditing firm, with particular regard to the provision of non-audit services.

The Board of Statutory Auditors is vested with the powers envisaged by legal and regulatory provisions, and reports to the Supervisory Authority in accordance with regulations in force.

5.4.3. The internal control system

The internal control system is composed of the set of rules, functions, structures, resources, processes and procedures that, through a suitable identification, measurement, management and monitoring process of the main risks, aims to ensure the following in compliance with sound and prudent management:

- verification of the implementation of business strategies and policies;
- containment of risk to within the limits indicated in the risk appetite framework (RAF) of the Parent Company;
- safeguarding of asset values and protection against losses;
- effectiveness and efficiency of business processes;
- reliability and security of business information and IT procedures;
- prevention of risks to which the bank is exposed, including involuntarily, through unlawful acts (with particular reference to those associated with money laundering, usury and terrorism financing);
- operational and regulatory compliance with the law and supervisory regulations, as well as with policies, plans and internal regulations and procedures.

The internal control system plays a central role in the business organisation and represents a key source of knowledge for the corporate bodies so as to guarantee full awareness and responsibility for the effective monitoring of business risks and their interrelations; steers the

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

strategic guidelines and company policies and therefore the organisational context; monitors the operations of the management systems and compliance with the prudent regulatory institutions; promotes the dissemination of a correct culture of risks, lawfulness and corporate values.

Given these characteristics, the internal control system is of strategic importance. The control culture holds a strong position on the scale of business values and does not only refer to the control functions, but also involves the entire organisation (corporate bodies, structures, hierarchical levels, personnel) in the development and application of logical and systematic methods for identifying, measuring, communicating, managing and continuously verifying the risks typical of banking activities and of the Group companies.

To achieve this objective, the internal control system must in general:

- ensure the completeness, adequacy, operations (in terms of efficiency and effectiveness)
 and reliability of the risk management process and its consistency with the RAF;
- envisage that control activities are disseminated to every operating segment and hierarchical level;
- guarantee that any anomalies detected are promptly brought to the attention of the appropriate levels of the company (to corporate bodies, if significant) able to quickly take corrective measures; incorporate specific procedures for acting upon any violation of operating limits.

The bank's internal control system must ensure that operations as a whole are designed to satisfy the general principles outlined above, with which the conduct of individuals, functions and corporate bodies must comply.

The players involved in the internal control system are the corporate bodies, board committees and management committees, control functions and the series of functions which in accordance with legal, regulatory, statutory or self-governance provisions are responsible for control, also including the Supervisory Body.

The bank adopts a three-level internal control system, in line with current legal and regulatory provisions. This model envisages the following types of control:

- line controls (first level controls): carried out by the operating structures which have prime responsibility for the risk management process. As part of their operations they must identify, measure, monitor, mitigate and report risks deriving from ordinary business activities. The scope of these controls is to guarantee the correct execution of transactions. These are integrated into procedures or carried out manually through hierarchical, systematic and sample checks;
- risk and compliance controls (second level controls): ensure implementation of the risk management process, compliance with operating limits assigned to the various functions and regulatory and operating compliance with rules, including self-governance rules. The

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

- functions performing second level controls are separates from operating functions and assist in defining the risk management process;
- internal audit (third level controls): aim to identify violations of procedures and regulations as well as periodically assess the completeness, adequacy, operations (in terms of efficiency and effectiveness) and reliability of the internal control system and the ICT Audit system, with a frequency established according to the nature and intensity of the risks.

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

6 Adoption, amendment and updating of the model

The Board of Directors has sole responsibility for the adoption, amendment and effective implementation of the model.

The Board of Directors:

- amends the model if significant violations or sidestepping of its provisions are found, highlighting its inadequacy, even if only partial, in guaranteeing effective prevention of the offences and crimes;
- updates all or part of the model, also at the proposal of the Supervisory Body, if changes or amendments are made to:
 - the legal and regulatory system, external or internal, governing the activities of the bank:
 - o the corporate structure or in the organisation or activities of the bank;
 - the bank's activities or its goods or services offered to customers, including financial instruments or products;
- ensures the effective implementation of the model, through assessment and approval of the actions necessary to implement and amend it.

The Organisational function defines the structure of the model and instructs the proposals for the amendment of the same. These proposals are previously communicated to the Compliance function which provides an opinion on their compliance and subsequently to the Supervisory Body, which expresses a non-binding opinion.

As an exception to the above, the Organisation function of the bank can make changes of an insubstantial nature to the model if these prove necessary to improve clarity or efficiency. These amendments are reported to the Compliance function of the Supervisory Body and to the Board of Directors.

Through the adoption and effective implementation of the model, the bank aims to

- in all persons operating on behalf of the bank in areas which, by their nature, can give rise to the commission of offences referred to in the decree, determine the awareness that they could face, if the related instructions and provisions are violated, disciplinary or contractual consequences, in addition to criminal and administrative penalties that could be inflicted upon them;
- reiterate that such forms of unlawful conduct are strongly condemned as, even if the bank could apparently benefit, they are - in any event - contrary not only to the provisions of law, but also to the principles that the bank intends to comply with in the exercise of its business activities;

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

 through monitoring of the business areas at risk, allow the bank to promptly intervene in order to prevent or combat the commission of offences and sanction conduct that is contrary to its model.

The effective and firm implementation of the model is also guaranteed by:

- senior managers and the heads of the various structures,
- the Supervisory Body, in exercising its powers of initiative and control over activities carried out by individual structures;

Through the Organisational function of the Parent Company, the senior managers and heads of the structures concerned submit proposals to the competent functions for amendment of the procedures under their responsibility when such changes appear necessary for efficient implementation of the model. The procedures and related amendments are promptly reported to the Supervisory Body.

The Supervisory Body reports in writing to the chairman of the Board of Directors and to the Chief Executive Officer on events that suggest an opportunity or need to amend or review the model. In this case, the Chairman of the Board of Directors includes the Supervisory Body's report on the agenda of the Board of Directors meetings so that the appropriate decisions can be adopted.

7 Group guidelines

7.1. Structures based abroad (representative offices)

The Group operates abroad through structures that are not legally independent enterprises (representative offices) but which are to all effects recipients of the company's model, regardless of the jurisdictions in which they operate. These structures, in cases in which the regulations of their country of residence do not envisage similar levels of attention, are required to comply in particular with the contents of the chapter "General principles for the prevention of crimes and offences" of the model, adapting these to the particular features of their own business environment in line with local regulations in force. If a number of the provisions in the model were found to be less strict than local regulations, the aforementioned structures would adopt the local regulations.

The head of a representative office based abroad guarantees the correct implementation and related monitoring of the general principles for the prevention of crimes and offences issued by the Parent Company. The Supervisory Body receives any internal documents and their updates, drafted with the aim of regulating implementation of the aforementioned general principles and a copy of the reporting generated in reference to regulations also discussed in the model.

7.2. Italian subsidiaries

Having adopted an organisational structure characterising it as essentially and economically a single business, the Group has steered its decisions for implementation of the decree by defining guidelines and reference templates for the preparation of organisation, management and control models for the Group companies.

In relation to the above, the Parent Company has prepared a model which, without prejudice to the independence of each company in adopting its own, represents the paradigm to be adopted by the individual banks and companies in the Group.

In relation to the above, the Parent Company informs all the banks and companies in the Group of the contents of its model and all subsequent versions or amendments.

Aware of the 231 risk profile generally attributable to the company, for the purposes indicated in the decree, the Italian subsidiaries can adopt their own organisation, management and control model.

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

When preparing their organisation, management and control models, the subsidiaries abide by the general principles and contents of the Parent Company's model, without prejudice to the opportunity of taking specific situations into account in the model regarding the nature, size, type of activities, corporate structure and internal delegation arrangements that impose or suggest the adoption of different measures in order to more rationally and efficiently pursue the objectives indicated in the model.

If for the adoption of their own organisation, management and control model the Italian subsidiaries have been unable to standardise it to that of the Parent Company, they submit the model (to the secretariats of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Body), highlighting and justifying any deviations.

The subsidiaries referred to in this paragraph decide on their own organisation, management and control model after identifying the activities at risk of commission of the offences (i.e. after risk mapping) and the measures best suited to preventing their commission. For this purpose, the aforementioned subsidiaries make use of support from the Organisational function of the Parent Company. During the risk mapping procedure and the updating/adoption of an organisation, management and control model consistent with that of the Parent Company, and until the latter has approved the model, the Group companies adopt suitable measures to prevent unlawful conduct by making use - if considered necessary - of support from the competent functions of the Parent Company.

The draft of the organisation, management and control model is brought to the attention of the respective Supervisory Body (if already established), which expresses its non-binding opinion. If the administrative body decides to deviate from the aforementioned opinion, it must provide suitable justification.

As part of its management and coordination functions, the Parent Company also provides the Italian subsidiaries with non-binding recommendations for the composition of their respective Supervisory Bodies, which constitute a *de minimis* requirement and therefore do not exclude their opting for a higher standard with no particular justification obligations. If, however, the administrative body of the Italian subsidiaries consider it appropriate to adopt *less* stringent standards, they must provide suitable justification for their decisions which will be communicated to the Parent Company.

In particular, the Parent Company - given the corporate purpose, mission, size, operating complexity, organisation and 231 risk profile generally attributable to an individual Italian subsidiary - has identified the underlying scenarios that the subsidiaries can use as reference in determining the composition of their Supervisory Bodies.

For banks (other than the Parent Company), the Supervisory Body can have three members, two of which from within the bank or Group and one external member acting as Chairman. The option of a hybrid composition (internal/external) aims to temper business expertise (consequently better suited to identifying and monitoring areas of material risk) with

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

independence from the corporate structure which enhances the impartiality of controls and opinions.

The internal members of the Supervisory Body are resources who can represent:

- the control functions of the company or other Group companies;
- the Board of Statutory Auditors of the company or other Group companies;
- the company's management body, provided they meet the requirements of independence established by the articles of association for the purposes of Bank of Italy provisions on corporate governance.

The external members of the Supervisory Body must be extraneous to the bank or Group companies and their related ownership structures and, in addition to the requirements of integrity and independence, must meet the requirements of professionalism and the expertise criteria necessary to carry out their duties (lawyers, professors, financial market experts, accountants, consultants, etc.).

For other public limited companies, also in implementation of the provisions of paragraph 4-bis of art. 6 of the decree, the Supervisory Body functions can be performed by the control body. If the company opts to appoint an independent Supervisory Body, its decision must be adopted with suitable justification.

7.3. Foreign subsidiaries

For its foreign subsidiaries - in compliance with local restrictions - the Parent Company adopts all initiatives suitable to guaranteeing control and monitoring standards comparable to those envisaged by Italian regulatory provisions, also in cases where regulations in the subsidiaries' countries of residence do not envisage similar levels of attention.

Provisions are also included to monitor the risk of commission of offences in the event, even abstractly, that individuals acting on behalf of the foreign subsidiaries can adopt conduct or generate events that are fully or in part punished by the decree, in Italy or abroad, in concert with an Italian company (to the extent prescribed in Italian regulations).

Given that a number of the more material offences that could potentially involve the subsidiaries in question are, in general, linked to treaties or international directives for which the aforementioned have:

- autonomously adopted a regulatory system (policy, guidelines, compliance programme, etc.) of an organisation and a system of controls suitable for mitigating the risk of commission of the offences in question;
- implemented regulations issued by the Parent Company with the aim of adopting a systematic reference framework of principles and standards on preventing international

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

offences (anti-bribery & corruption, anti-money laundering, anti-insider trading and market manipulation, etc.).

In cases in which the aforementioned regulations do not envisage similar levels of attention, the foreign subsidiaries are required to comply in particular with the contents of the chapter "General principles for the prevention of crimes and offences" of the Parent Company model, adapting these to the particular features of their own business environment in line with their operating independence and with local regulations in force.

The compliance officer of each foreign subsidiary guarantees compliance and related monitoring of the general principles for the prevention of crimes and offences issued by the Parent Company. The Supervisory Body receives any internal documents and their updates, drafted with the aim of regulating implementation of the aforementioned general principles, and a copy of the reporting generated in reference to regulations also discussed in the model.

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

8 Supervisory Body and reporting obligations

8.1 Introduction

The duty of supervising the function and compliance of the model and arranging its updating has been assigned to a body of the bank that has independent powers of initiative and control.

8.2. Membership, requirements, term of office and appointment

8.2.1. Membership

The Supervisory Body currently has 5 members, appointed by the Board of Directors as follows:

- 3 individuals external to the bank and related ownership structure, in compliance with the provisions indicated below (hereinafter also external members), one of which acts as chairman;
- 1 standing member of the Board of Statutory Auditors appointed by that board;
- 1 head of a company control function.

8.2.2. Requirements

In deciding on members, the only significant criteria are those relating to the specific professionalism and expertise required to carry out the duties of the Supervisory Body, integrity - to be assessed on the basis of requirements established for corporate officers of banks envisaged in article 26 of the Consolidated Banking Law - and, for external members, their absolute independence from the bank.

Other reasons for incompatibility include:

- being a director that does not meet the independence requirements, an executive director or a member of the company to which statutory audit has been assigned;
- being the spouse, direct relative or other relative to the fourth degree of persons referred to in the previous point;
- being convicted, also if the sentence is not final (e.g., also a sentence pronounced pursuant to article 444 of the Italian code of criminal procedure), for one of the offences;
- having accessory administrative penalties inflicted upon them as envisaged in article 187 quater of the Consolidated Finance Law;

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

 being convicted, also if the sentence is not final, with punishment involving a temporary or permanent ban on holding public office, or temporary ban on holding office as director of legal entities and businesses.

8.2.3. Term of office of members

Members of the Supervisory Body remain in office for three years. In order to avoid any break in continuity of the work of the Supervisory Body, it is considered necessary to differentiate the termination of office dates of its members.

On initial appointment, therefore, the term of office of external members not acting as chairman, if appointed, is limited to two years.

Members of the Supervisory Body can be re-elected for one additional mandate, if appointed as external members and can be confirmed while covering roles and offices, if appointed as standing member of the Board of Statutory Auditors or are the head of a control function (internal members).

8.2.4. Procedure for assessing and verifying requirements

Within 30 calendar days of appointment and in any event annually, the Board of Directors assesses whether members of the Supervisory Body continue to meet the requirements, complying with the procedural provisions of this paragraph.

The loss of such requirements during the course of the mandate results in lapse of the term of office or other penalty as indicated below, in compliance with the provisions contained therein.

The Board of Directors assesses the completeness of documentation provided by the interested party and can request sight of additional documents regarding proof of satisfaction of the requirements.

After examining the documentation submitted and any additional documents requested, the Board of Directors decides on the existence of requirements within thirty calendar days of the appointment. The deadline is extended by seven business days for the submission of any additional documentation.

If any member, after appointment, should find themselves in one of the loss of requirements situations that result in lapse, after examining the documents the Board of Directors declares the lapse and initiates appropriate action to restore full members of the Supervisory Body.

The Board of Directors normally arranges the above when situations of failure to meet requirements arise from checks associated with the appointment or from periodic checks.

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

The related deadlines are triggered from the moment that circumstances suitable to determining failure to meet requirements become known.

Members of the Supervisory Body have a duty to immediately inform the Supervisory Body and the Board of Directors, in writing, if a loss of requirements situation should arise and in any event if any proceedings (civil, administrative, court) are brought against them that could potentially result in loss of requirements.

8.2.5. Further scenarios of changes in the Supervisory Body and termination of office rules

Further reasons for termination of office for internal members derive from disbandment of the office to which they were appointed or loss of qualifications (also as a result of promotion). In this case, the Board of Directors promptly arranges appointment of the missing member after ascertaining that the requirements of integrity, professionalism and independence are satisfied, as well as other prescribed requirements.

Without prejudice to the rules for declaration of lapse due to the original lack or later loss of the aforementioned requirements, each member of the Supervisory Body is subject to termination by the Board of Directors only for serious violation of their official duties, by justified decision and after obtaining the compulsory and binding opinion of the Board of Statutory Auditors.

As an exception to the previous paragraph, the termination of a statutory auditor from office as member of the Supervisory Body for violation of official duties is declared by the Board of Directors, subject to decision of the Board of Statutory Auditors. The reasons are stated in the decision of the Board of Statutory Auditors, without prejudice to the rules for declaration of lapse due to shortcomings brought to light in the original possession of requirements.

In the event of termination, the Board of Directors promptly arranges replacement of the terminated member after ascertaining that the requirements of integrity, professionalism and independence are satisfied, along with other prescribed requirements.

8.3. Expertise, powers and duties of the Supervisory Body

The Supervisory Board collectively has independent powers of initiative, action and control, which are extended to all structures of the bank. Such powers are exercised in order to efficiently and promptly carry out the functions envisaged in the model.

In order to carry out its duties in complete independence, the Supervisory Body has independent spending powers based on an annual budget approved by the Board of Directors at the Supervisory Board's own proposal.

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

The Supervisory Body can autonomously make use of resources beyond its spending powers if the use of such resources is necessary to overcome exceptional and urgent circumstances. In such cases, the Supervisory Body must inform the Board of Directors.

The Supervisory Body does not have, nor can be attributed with, even in a deputising capacity, management action, decision-making, organisational or disciplinary powers, even if relating to matters or issues pertaining to the activities carried out by the Supervisory Body.

Control and audit activities carried out by the Supervisory Body are also strictly functional to the objectives of efficient implementation of the model and cannot substitute the institutional control functions of the bank.

As part of its activities to supervise the effective and efficient implementation of the model, the Supervisory Body has the following powers of initiative and control, which it exercises in constant compliance with legal regulations and the individual rights of workers and persons concerned:

- periodically performs audit and control activities, the frequency of which is at least justifiably predetermined by the Supervisory Body itself as part of its action plan;
- can make use of the structures and control functions to perform and guide its audits and assessments as necessary. For this purpose it receives suitable information flows from them, either periodic or relating to specific business situations or performances;
- has access to all information, by whomever held, concerning at-risk activities, including documentation produced as part of risk assessment processes for identifying activities in which 231 offences could be committed;
- periodically meets with the heads of functions and can request information or sight of documents from all those (recipients and collaborators) who carry out or supervise, even on an occasional basis, activities at risk. The obligation of collaborators to comply with requests from the Supervisory Body is included in the individual contracts or applicable regulations;
- can request information or documents relating to banks and Group companies by means of a request addressed to the Supervisory Body of the company concerned;
- receives from the compliance officers of foreign subsidiaries any internal documents and related updates, prepared with the aim of regulating implementation of the general principles for the prevention of crimes and offences of the model, and a copy of periodic reports submitted to their reference corporate body;
- examines information flows with predetermined frequency and methods, requested from the heads of structures in which activities at risk are carried out or are even partly affected by such activities;
- can make use of external advisors of particularly complex issues or those requiring specific expertise. Communication to the Chief Executive Officer can be omitted, under the Supervisory Body's responsibility, on the basis of the particular delicate nature of investigations or their subject matter;

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

- submits reports to the Chief Executive Officer and the Head of the Human Resources function on the launch of any sanction proceedings envisaged in the specific chapter of the model:
- promptly provides information, of which it becomes aware, to the corporate bodies and heads of the control functions and is significant to the execution of their duties;
- verifies the model, regulations and procedures adopted for its implementation and proposes updating as envisaged in the model;
- prepares an annual written report on the activities carried out, submitting this to the respective chairmen of the Board of Directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors. The periodic reports prepared by the Supervisory Body are also prepared to allow the Board of Directors to make the assessments required for any updates or amendments to the model and must at least contain:
 - o an indication of activities carried out in the reporting period;
 - any problems emerging from model implementation checks;
 - the summary of reports received from internal and external parties in relation to the model;
 - any disciplinary procedures and penalties inflicted by the bank, with sole reference to activities at risk;
 - an overall assessment of the implementation and effectiveness of the model, with indications as required for additions, corrections or amendments;
 - any use of the allocated budget.
- performs the functions referred to in the chapter "Penalties system";
- is consulted in all circumstances in which it is considered necessary or appropriate, or is required by the Supervisory Body itself, or by the Board of Directors or Board of Statutory Auditors, in relation to the operations of the model and compliance with the obligations imposed by the decree. Likewise, the Supervisory Body can consult the Board of Directors and/or the Board of Statutory Auditors.

8.3.1. Confidentiality obligation

Members of the Supervisory Body and any parties who, for any purpose or reason, are heard by the Supervisory Body or who are recipients of its documents, are obliged to maintain the confidentiality of all information that becomes known in the exercise of their duties or activities.

8.3.2. Powers of self-organisation and criteria for their exercise

The Supervisory Body governs its own operations by adopting a regulation which - among other things - has to regulate the methods for carrying out its activities, methods for calling and holding meetings, methods for forming decisions, management of information flows to and from the Supervisory Body, and management of reports to the Supervisory Body.

Page 47

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

Latest update: 20 October 2020

The Supervisory Body performs its functions ensuring that, to the widest extent possible, it promotes a rationale and efficient cooperation with the bank's corporate bodies and control functions.

Control and audit activities carried out by the Supervisory Body are also strictly functional to the objectives of efficient implementation of the model and cannot substitute the institutional control functions of the bank.

8.4. Reporting of support to the Supervisory Body

The bank implements systems capable of capturing and processing information - from internal and external sources - that is useful to promptly becoming aware of, and therefore managing, the risks.

Such information, if involving sensitive 231 profiles, are brought to the attention of the Supervisory Body (except for any secrecy obligations imposed by authorities) so that they might be assessed also in relation to the level of anomalies or critical issues found and the opportunities for proposing the introduction of new or different risk mitigation procedures.

The Supervisory Body fulfils its supervisory obligations through the analysis:

- of systematic information flows received under the terms of the document approved by the Parent Company Board of Directors which, amongst other things, defines the information flows among the various functions and control bodies and between these and the corporate bodies;
- of reports from anyone regarding:
 - information regarding the commission, or reasonable belief of commission, of offences to which Italian Legislative Decree 231/01 applies, including the launch of judicial proceedings against senior managers, employees and collaborators for crimes and offences envisaged in the decree;
 - violations or alleged violations of the codes or conduct or procedural codes contained in the model, including the Code of Ethics, procedures and regulations that form an integral part thereof;
 - o proceedings or information originating from law enforcement bodies, or any other authority, from which it can be deduced that investigations into offences are in progress, also against persons unknown, if such investigations involve the bank, senior managers, employees or collaborators;
 - requests for legal assistance from senior managers and employees in the event of legal proceedings brought for offences envisaged in the decree;
 - information regarding disciplinary or sanction proceedings brought against senior managers, employees or collaborators.

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

Reports to the Supervisory Body should be sent to the following e-mail address:

odv@bancobpm.it

or to the mailing address:

Supervisory Body of Banco BPM c/o Group Corporate Affairs Piazza Meda 4, 20100 Milan

Whistleblowers are required to submit reports giving details of material unlawful conduct pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01, or on violations of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01 of which they become aware during the course of their duties.

The whistleblowers are protected against any form of retaliation or discrimination, direct or indirect, for reasons associated directly or indirectly with the report. In this respect, the invalidity of retaliatory or discriminatory dismissal of the whistleblower, the invalidity of a change in duties pursuant to article 2103 of the Italian Civil Code and any other retaliatory of discriminatory measure adopted against the whistleblower will prevail.

Confidentiality is guaranteed regarding the identity of the whistleblower within the limits envisaged by law or determined by the need to protect the company, and disciplinary sanctions are established by the competent function against any individual violating these measures, as well as against any whistleblower who with fraudulent intent or serious negligence submits reports that prove unfounded.

The Supervisory Body's management of reports is governed by specific regulations issued by the bank and implemented in compliance with regulations in force and with the principles of confidentiality and fairness.

The Supervisory Body assesses reports received and adopts any consequent measures it considers reasonable, at its own discretion and under its own responsibility, if necessary listening to the whistleblower or the alleged offender, and justifying its decisions in writing.

With reference to reports received pursuant to the model and regulations on anticorruption issues, the Supervisory Body informs the Head of the Internal Whistleblowing System (SISV Manager) of the bank if such reports could also constitute a violation of other regulations governing banking activities.

Without prejudice to its independence, the Supervisory Body coordinates with the aforementioned SISV Manager for implementation of the procedures in question and assesses the reports.

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

In turn, the SISV Manager promptly informs the Supervisory Body, for the purpose of coordination, of any reports received with an impact on matters under their control.

of information concerning:

- disciplinary measures and penalties inflicted upon senior managers, employees and collaborators for violations of the model/decree or the dismissal of proceedings brought against them with related reasons;
- measures for which the bank is liable as ordered by judicial authorities for violation of the decree;
- other measures for which the bank is liable as ordered by judicial authorities, tax authorities or other entities/authorities responsible for supervising the bank (e.g.: INPS, INAIL, INPDAP, Provincial Labour Department, Occupational Medicine, local public entities, local health authorities, fire departments, European Central Bank, Bank of Italy, Consob, IVASS, Antitrust Authority, Privacy Regulator, Ministry for Economic Development, etc.) if such measures are attributable to violations of the model;
- findings of the auditing firm.

Unlike reports that constitute alerts of events that could potentially give rise to a 231 liability for the bank, these reports relate to events whose significance - for the purpose of 231 rules - is confirmed.

- of other information flows.
- The Supervisory Body fulfils its supervisory obligations also through the analysis of information flows from the control structures and from others contributing to the control system as regards the monitoring of certain risks (e.g.: Executive in charge of financial reporting, pursuant to article 154-bis of the Consolidated Finance Law, Employer pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 81/2008), also through:
 - specialist functions and the heads of structures operating in areas at 231 risk;
 - Supervisory Bodies of the outsourcers and relating to outsourced activities;
 - Supervisory Bodies of contractors for events affecting outsourced activities.
 Normally, for such events, the administrative body of the contractor informs the corresponding bodies of the interim controlling entity (if any) and the Parent Company, which in turn inform their respective Supervisory Bodies.

8.5. Coordination powers of the Parent Company Supervisory Body

The Supervisory Body supervises an individual company, considering that the decree states that it qualifies as a body only for a single company and not for a group.

The independence assigned by law to the Supervisory Body refers to the exercise methods and its ownership of powers which do not therefore qualify as deriving from those of the administrative body or other body and their exercise cannot be subordinated at the proposal or request of others.

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

At the same time, if the company is a member of a Group and the production processes are harbingers of risks referred to in the decree and result from activities spread among different companies in the Group, the monitoring of such risks demands coordination between the companies involved in such processes. It is therefore important that not only information required to carry out the coordinated production activities circulates among the companies, but also the information necessary for identifying and preventing the risks.

For this purpose, four types of information flows are established:

- that between Group companies, i.e. among the respective administrative bodies: dialogue between Group companies is governed by taking into account the fact that the legitimate existence is recognised (without prejudice to resulting liability) of a management and coordination power, associated with which in the case of banking groups is a duty suited to generating binding effects on subsidiaries when instructions issued by the Supervisory Authority in the interests of the Group's stability are to be implemented;
- that from each company to its own Supervisory Body: dialogue between supervisory bodies and the administrative bodies of each company is envisaged by law and also regulated by the model in line with specific regulatory provisions;
- that between the Supervisory Body of each company and the counterpart bodies of every other Group company involved in the same production processes: dialogue between supervisory bodies is governed by equal terms and non-interference criteria in the supervisory duties and initiatives undertaken by each body;
- those between the supervisory bodies of subsidiaries to the Supervisory Body of the parent company (and intermediate bodies, if any).

The Supervisory Bodies performs their functions ensuring that, to the widest extent possible, they promote a rationale and efficient cooperation with the company's corporate bodies and control functions, in terms of subdivision of activities and sharing of information. In this respect, also in relation to provisions of the supervisory instructions for banks, the bank approved a document which, amongst other things, defines the information flows between the various control functions or bodies and between these and the corporate bodies.

The equal terms criterion does not exclude one of the supervisory bodies from playing a driving role in the exchange of information and as moderator in dialogue and, in general, in initiatives that pursue fact-finding purposes.

Given that, as Parent Company, the bank is required to identify and monitor the risks of offences giving rise to corporate liability in relation to the exercise of management and coordination activities and running the risk of becoming liable for offences perpetrated within the organisation by a subsidiary, the bank's Supervisory Body has the following powers:

 coordination and guidance activities regarding application of the organisation, management and control model by Group companies (which adopt them) to ensure correct and standardised implementation;

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

 the option of requesting that the supervisory bodies of Group companies implement specific control actions to ensure the adoption and effectiveness of the organisation, management and control model in their respective companies.

As it is responsible for more extensive supervisory duties than those required of other companies, the Parent Company Supervisory Body receives information flows that are more complete than any other Supervisory Body^[2].

Coordination between the Supervisory Body of the Parent Company and the supervisory bodies of Group companies is guaranteed, as a minimum, by reporting activities.

The information flows primarily refer to:

- completeness of the register of activities in which offences or crimes could be committed;
- use of control tools to detect critical issue profiles;
- identification of any shortcomings in the models;
- cases of violation of individual models.

Envisaging a reporting obligation to the Parent Company Supervisory Body in relation to actions or events strictly functional to the objectives of effective implementation of the organisation, management and control models is compatible with the principle of independence of subsidiaries' supervisory bodies.

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

²This is in line with the regulatory framework whereby individual Models envisage not only reporting obligations of the Company to the Supervisory Body, but also impose upon the Supervisory Body the exercise of powers of initiative in areas under its responsibility to require and promote the set-up of information flows considered necessary for the exercise of its supervisory duties.

9 Penalties system

The decree envisages that, in reference to senior managers and subordinates, the organisation, management and control models must introduce, with reference to subjects in senior positions and subjects under the management of others (...) a disciplinary system suitable for penalising failure to comply with the measures indicated in the model (...).

As a result of the above, the preparation of a suitable penalties system for the violation of rules and provisions contained in the model, procedures and regulations (hereinafter the 231 regulatory system") is essential to ensuring the effectiveness of the model and constitutes conduct that does not comply with the principles and rules of conduct established in them as a contractual offence

The application of sanctions does not compromise or modify any further criminal, civil law or other consequences that could derive from the same offence.

Consequently, failure to comply with the rules and provisions contained in the *231 regulatory system*, harming, if only per se, existing relations with the bank, leads to actions of a penalising and disciplinary nature regardless of any instigation of or result of criminal proceedings, in cases in which the violation constitutes an offence or crime.

The investigation outcomes and the application of sanctions for the violation of provisions of the model fall within the exclusive powers of the competent functions and bodies of the bank in relation to the duties assigned to them by the Articles of Association or by regulations.

Every violation or circumventing of the *231 regulatory system*, by any person, must be reported in writing to the Supervisory Body by the party becoming aware of such action, without prejudice to procedures and measures applied by the holder of disciplinary powers.

The Supervisory Body must always be informed if a penalty is inflicted for violation of the *231 regulatory system* against any party required to comply with that system.

9.1. General principles for inflicting penalties upon employees

The 231 regulatory system is made up of a series of provisions with which employees must comply, also in accordance with the legal and contractual provisions on codes of conduct and disciplinary measures.

The violation or attempted violation of the *231 regulatory system* or circumventing of the control system envisaged for its implementation, committed in whatever manner, including theft, concealment, destruction or alteration of documents relating to the *231* regulatory system, constitute disciplinary infringements. The following also represent infringements:

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

failure to prepare documentation envisaged in the 231 regulatory system, conduct to obstruct controls, blocking access to information and documentation by parties responsible for control of the 231 regulatory system, and conduct that facilitates the violation or circumventing of the control system.

As the general rules (and with them the existing instruments concerning codes and disciplinary penalties in employment contracts) also apply with regard to provisions of the decree, in the presence of a violation of provisions of the 231 regulatory system, the bank begins disciplinary proceedings and inflicts the related penalties in compliance with specific regulatory and contractual provisions governing the employment contracts of employees (in Italy, see article 7, Italian Law no. 300 of 20 May 1970, the workers' charter and, for examples, the national pay agreement for managerial staff and personnel of professional areas in the employ of credit, financial and instrumental companies and the national pay agreement for executives in the employ of credit, financial and instrumental companies), as well as any applicable legal provisions (i.e. Italian Law no. 179 of 30 November 2017, "Provisions for the protection of whistleblowers reporting offences or irregularities of which they become aware in a public or private employment relationship").

The type and extent of each penalty established are inflicted in consideration of the degree of carelessness, lack of expertise, negligence, culpability or intent of the conduct relating to the action or omission, also taking into account any repetition and the business activities carried out by the offender and their related position, together with all other particular circumstances that action could portray.

To this end, the human resources function of the bank prepares the disciplinary measures relating to the penalties, infringements to which each can be applied and the procedures for challenging which are to be brought to the attention of employees. These apply the provisions established in any existing labour agreements and contracts.

9.2. The penalties system pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01 for employees

The penalties inflicted on an employee who violates the obligations referred to in the previous paragraph are objectively and subjectively related to the seriousness of the infringement, in compliance with the criteria of proportionality established by law and in contractual relations governing the specific employment relationship.

If the violation was committed by executive personnel, the holder of the disciplinary power involves the competent functions to launch proceedings for reprimand purposes and to inflict any penalties envisaged by law and the applicable NATIONAL PAY AGREEMENT. If the NATIONAL PAY AGREEMENT does not have a penalties system applying to executives, the applicable penalties will be dismissal pursuant to articles 2118 (termination of a permanent contract) and 2119 (termination for just cause) in the Italian Civil Code, which must be decided by the Board of Directors after conducting the procedure pursuant to article 7, Italian

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

Law 300/1970. For cases considered less serious, and where envisaged in the contracts signed, the holder of the disciplinary power can impose a conservative measure.

9.3. The penalties system pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01 for employees with foreign employment contracts

Employees of foreign structures with a contract governed by local regulations who violate provisions of the 231 regulatory system, in the paragraph "general principles for inflicting penalties on employees", are subject to conservative disciplinary penalties or termination of employment, depending on the seriousness of the infringement in compliance with law and the contractual provisions governing the specific employment relationship.

9.4. The penalties system pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01 for members of the Board of Directors and Board of Statutory Auditors

For a member of the Board of Directors or Board of Statutory Auditors committing violation of the model, procedures or its implementing regulations, suitable measures as permitted by law or the penalties system, if adopted or envisaged, can be inflicted.

If the violation concerns a member of the Board of Directors or Board of Statutory Auditors, the Supervisory Body is informed immediately - in a written report - by the Chairman of the Board of Directors or Chairman of the Board of Statutory Auditors.

9.4.1 Members of the Board of Directors

With abstention of the member concerned, the Board of Directors arranges the necessary investigations and - after consulting the Board of Statutory Auditors - adopts suitable measures, that can also include the precautionary withdrawal of delegated powers, and calls a shareholders' Meeting to arrange replacement if necessary.

If a violation involves multiple members of the Board of Directors and, in the absence of the individuals involved, a majority decision by members of the Board of Directors cannot be adopted, the Chairman calls a shareholders' Meeting without delay to resolve upon potential termination of office. If one of the members involved is the Chairman of the Board of Directors, reference should be made to the provisions of law on the urgent calling of a shareholders' Meeting.

9.4.2 Members of the Board of Statutory Auditors

In compliance with provisions of the Articles of Association and the law, the Board of

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

Directors and Board of Statutory Auditors can adopt suitable measures that also include calling a shareholders' meeting.

9.5 The penalties system pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01 for collaborators

If events occur that can qualify as violation of the decree by a collaborator, the Supervisory Body informs the senior managers and competent employees to which the contract or relationship refers.

Depending on the seriousness of the infringement and the methods by which it was committed, the bank can take the following action, also in compliance with the provisions of contracts signed with the collaborators:

- reminds interested parties of the compliance with provisions of the summary document of the model delivered to them at the time of signing the contract;
- based on the different contract types adopted or the different state of execution of obligations deriving from the contract, is entitled to assess not only withdrawal from the existing contract for just cause, but also termination of the contract due to default by the persons referred to above and to withdraw all mandates conferred.

This in any event without prejudice to the Group's option to claim compensation for damages if such conduct results in real damage to the bank or to the Group, and likewise the application of penalties by judicial authorities as envisaged in the decree.

9.6 The penalties system for employees and senior managers of the foreign subsidiaries

If irregularities should be found in the application of general principles for the prevention of crimes and offences by a foreign subsidiary, the administrative body of the company arranges assessment of the violation and determines the most suitable penalty in compliance with contractual provisions applying to the employment relationship or, if involving members of the administrative and control bodies, with legal and regulatory provisions of the country in which the company is based. The decision adopted by the administrative body of the company must be reported to the Supervisory Body.

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

10 Provision of intragroup services

The Group has adopted a business model in which:

- the Parent Company exercises management and coordination over the Group companies, facilitating standardised business management;
- the special purpose entities, coordinated by the Parent Company, centralise the service and support functions. Such centralisation aims to maximise economies of scale and specialisation, allowing:
 - o clear assignment of responsibilities on the processes and activities carried out;
 - full standardisation of operating rules and processes at Group level;
 - o clear separation of operating and control activities.

In the context of its guidance, coordination and control functions, the Parent Company:

- promotes implementation of the reference business model adopted and, over time, verifies its structure in terms of adequacy and alignment with the strategic and operational development of the Group;
- defines the corporate policy on outsourcing, ensuring that it is in line with the requirements of supervisory regulations;
- defines the contractual standards to be adopted to formalise outsourced within or outside the Group and, in reference to outsourcing within the Group:
 - o regulates the methods for providing intragroup services;
 - o defines and manages the price chargeback model, identifying the pricing criteria;
 - o oversees the processes for the centralisation of corporate functions;
 - o monitors all activities outsourced within the Group on the basis of information flows and periodic reports submitted by the Group outsourcer concerned.

The bank:

- performs management and coordination activities;
- performs certain services and business support activities on its own account and for other Group companies;
- outsources other services and business support activities to Group companies.

In consideration of the above, for risks applying to the bank and referred to in the special parts, the individual at-risk activities are described as in the following example:

activities carried out for own use, for other Group companies or activities relating to management and coordination	Р	
activities carried out by third parties on behalf of the bank and governed by a service agreement		Т

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

By making use of outsourcing, it is not the bank's intention to:

- delegate its own responsibilities or the responsibility of corporate bodies;
- alter relations with and obligations to its customers;
- jeopardise its own capacity to comply with obligations envisaged in supervisory instructions and put itself in a position to violate the activities reserved to it by law;
- compromise the quality of the internal control system, taking into account the overall control structure of the Group;
- obstruct supervision.

10.1. Relations between owner and outsourcer in the provision of intragroup services

Intragroup services provided by the bank (as outsourcer) or received by the bank (as owner) that can involve activities and transactions at risk pursuant to the special part below, are governed by a written contract. The list of contractualised services is made available to the Supervisory Body.

Standard rules for the Group on outsourcing contracts are envisaged by regulations. Ensuring the completeness and linear nature of the management of such contracts, and therefore also tenders, the rules help to monitor not only operational risks in general, but also 231 risks.

As regards liability pursuant to the decree, contracts governing the provision of intragroup activities or services - even if not exclusively for this purpose - contain:

- the subject matter, i.e. the services contracted or, in general, outsourced activities;
- the execution methods for the aforementioned services (in any event, the scope of activities concerned and their execution methods are described and governed by corporate regulations of the Group);
- determination or objective determinability of the consideration;
- obligations of the parties (owner and outsourcer).

The obligations of the parties are extended to the provisions indicated below, which must be referred to in their signed contract.

The company and Group regulations (including the models), procedures and documents mentioned later in this chapter can be used by the parties and their respective Supervisory Bodies (through their secretariats) by accessing the Group IT system. Publishing on the company intranet is the moment in which the corporate and Group regulations, procedures and - in general - documents relevant to the activities outsourced are considered made known to the parties, allowing implementation of the provisions concerning their own and respective Supervisory Body obligations on the provision of intragroup services.

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

Owner and outsourcer:

- have each adopted an organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01 (hereinafter, the model);
- arrange regular and prompt updating of the model, in relation to developments in the legal framework (regulatory and case law) and amendments concerning the organisation of the individual company and the Group;
- have each acknowledged the model of the other party or, at least, the entire general part
 of the model and any special parts in any event material to the activities outsourced;
- mutually undertake:
 - o to comply with the respective models, with particular regard to the special parts (protocols) material to the activities outsourced;
 - also through the model, to inform the respective Supervisory Bodies to directly arrange communications envisaged in the model as regards liability pursuant to the decree:
 - o to mutually accept amendments to the model or parts of the model that are relevant to the activities outsourced;
 - to report any violations that may arise and which could affect the contract, the outsourced activity or the methods for its provision;
 - during execution of the contract, to abstain from conduct that could qualify as any
 of the circumstances potentially giving rise to liability under the terms of the
 decree.

The outsourcer indirectly complies with the Code of Ethics and to the provisions of the model, procedures and regulations of the owner and is required to:

- precisely and accurately execute the outsourced activities in compliance with the provisions of the owner's regulations which, as previously mentioned, must be considered described and governed by Group regulations and procedures;
- register activities at risk conducted on its own account and activities at risk carried out for Group companies, and indicate the controls designed to prevent the perpetration of crimes and offences relating to itself and to the owner;
- illustrate to the owner the controls adopted and their suitability to prevent offences;
- promptly inform the owner of any event that could have a significant effect on its capacity to execute the activities/services outsourced in compliance with current regulations and with the contract:
- ensure the confidentiality of data relating to the owner or to third parties provided in order to perform the service;
- allow Supervisory Authority access to the premises on which the activities are carried out and to related documentation;
- make amendments to the contract as requested by the Supervisory Authority of the owner;
- at the request of the owner, provide sight of the documentation of its own Supervisory
 Body in which the latter informs the administrative body of the results of its control

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

activities adopted to prevent the offences affecting activities performed on behalf of the owner.

The owner:

- undertakes to provide the outsourcer with the necessary documentation and envisaged information in a truthful and complete manner to allow provision of the services required;
- has the right to access the documentation (including that relating to risk identification pursuant to the decree) regarding the outsourced activity and to conduct controls on the documentation and on the activity, also through access to the outsourcer's premises;
- has the right to examine documents regarding the outsourcer's model. In particular:
 - its entire general part, and in particular the provisions regarding appointment, membership and duties of the Supervisory Board;
 - special parts dedicated to outsourced activities or to the types of risks of offence considered material to the aforementioned activities;
 - any additional documents necessary to verify that the suitability requirements of the outsourcer's model are satisfied;
- the right of withdrawal (outright cancellation clause pursuant to article 1456 of the Italian Civil Code) in the event of breach of any one of the obligations envisaged for the purpose of preventing offences referred to in the decree.

With reference to the supervisory bodies of the outsourcer and the owner, and with a view to correct fulfilment of their duties, it is envisaged that:

- at least once a year, the Supervisory Body of the outsourcer prepares a report on its activities conducted in relation to the services provided. This report is made available to the administrative body and Supervisory Body of the owner (also through specific shares on the corporate intranet). The information flows remain in place between the owner and the outsourcer, as well as between the respective bodies deriving both companies' membership of the same Group and the provisions dedicated to intragroup relations in the respective models.
- the Supervisory Body of the owner has the right to:
 - access the documentation (including that relating to risk identification pursuant to the decree) regarding the outsourced activity and to conduct controls on the documentation and on the activity, also through access to the outsourcer's premises;
 - assess the suitability of the outsourcer's model to extend its effectiveness to meet the requirements of the owner;
 - o request information from the outsourcer's Supervisory Body or provided the latter is informed from its structures;
 - after consulting the competent functions, propose the outsourcer's adoption of specific control procedures if considered necessary to prevent offences.

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

11 Training

The training of recipients and collaborators to ensure awareness and implementation of the model, managed by the human resources function, is compulsory, diversified according to the different company roles and periodically repeated.

The purpose of the training is:

- to sensitise on the risks of committing crimes and offences while undertaking business activities:
- to sensitise on the contents of the model, Code of Ethics and other regulatory documents including 231 aspects;
- to promote compliance in application of the rules indicated therein at every stage of activities carried out.

The training activity designed to disseminate awareness of the regulations pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01 is implemented through training modules, of a general nature for all recipients, and ad hoc and differentiated in terms of the contents and implementation methods of implementation on the basis of the recipients' position, level of risk in their area of operation and the roles played by senior management functions of the bank. Particular attention is paid to new recruits.

The bank complies with the obligation to train its personnel through specific classroom courses and training made available in e-learning format on the company portal, duly updated as legal provisions change.

The Supervisory Body verifies the correct and prompt attendance of compulsory courses by employees or collaborators and reports cases of failure to do so, also for the purpose of subsequent application of any disciplinary measures or penalties.

The annual training programme is communicated in advance and agreed with the Supervisory Body.

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

Special Part (protocols)

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

12 General principles for the prevention of crimes and offences

In relation to the nature and size of the organisational structure specifically affected and the type of activities or function performed, suitable measures are adopted to improve the efficiency of activities carried out, ensuring constant compliance with the law, reference regulations and all other rules governing the activity and verifying the ability to effectively combat the risks identified.

The Group companies adopt and implement regulatory, organisational and procedural decisions, with constant adaptation as required. In particular, they ensure:

- an organisational system that is formalised and clear, especially with regard to the assignment of responsibilities, reporting hierarchies, description of duties and the distinction of roles;
- a regulatory system which (among other things) envisages:
 - the option of reconstructing the formation of documents and related authorisation levels, to guarantee transparency of the decisions adopted;
 - the subjective separation of the decision makers, those preparing accounting records for decided transactions and those required to carry out controls on the transactions as envisaged by law and in procedures envisaged in the control system;
 - safeguarding of the principles of transparency, truthfulness, completeness, clarity, reliability and reconstructability, ensuring that a reliable and faithful picture of the corporate position is built;
 - compliance with regulations on conflict of interest.
- with regard to IT systems, and in particular the development and maintenance of applications:
 - o identification of countermeasures and suitable controls to ensure correct operations;
 - protection of information processed in terms of confidentiality, integrity and availability;
 - o integration with existing systems;
 - compliance with regulations;
- with reference to bonus systems, which respond to realistic objectives consistent with the duties and activities carried out and the responsibilities assigned;
- a system of authorisational and signatory powers, consistent with the organisational and management responsibilities defined and, where necessary, envisaging precise indication of the spending approval limits;
- an information-training model that envisages a thorough, efficient, authoritative, clear and detailed communication process, integrated with a suitable training programme targeting those operating in areas at risk, appropriately calibrated to the levels of the recipients, that illustrates the reasons for opportunities, not only legal, underlying the rules and their true extent:

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

- a system of line controls (first level) which, supported by IT procedures and makerchecker mechanisms, ensures the completeness, correctness and accuracy of the information/data contained in documents of specific relevance to the structures;
- with regard to activities associated with financial resource management:
 - definition of limits of independent use of financial resources, setting the quantitative limits consistent with the management duties and organisational responsibilities assigned to individual recipients;
 - o presence of authorisational procedures, subordinated to providing suitable justification, if the limits referred to in the previous point are exceeded;
 - o in compliance with the principles of professionalism and management and accounting accuracy, the obligation of documenting and recording transactions involving the use of economic or financial resources, in such a way that the decision-making process can be verified and reconstructed, to guarantee transparency in the decisions made;
 - fairness declaration of the applicant entity, which must provide detailed justification for the use of financial resources;
- with regard to human resources, of any level, that they are recruited, managed and trained in accordance with criteria expressed in the Code of Ethics, the principles and provisions of the model and in compliance with related regulations.

With particular reference to activities and transactions at risk, specific procedures and regulations are adopted which - in addition to complying with the provisions herein - envisage that:

- an appropriate assessment is made of collaborators and counterparties with which the Group companies intend to relate which, amongst other things, envisage at least the acquisition of information envisaged in the anti-money laundering and anti-corruption policies of the Group, including for example: verification, also by acquiring specific documentation or self-certification, of the requirements of reliability and professional morals, as well as connections with Public Administration or the senior managers and employees of the Group companies;
- meetinas are held with Public Administration formal entities representatives/officers) which must be attended by at least two individuals from the bank required to draft and sign specific reports;
- senior managers and employees cannot take the initiative and, for action to be taken in the situation, must immediately report to their immediate superior and the Supervisory Body any attempt to circumvent laws, the model (if applicable), Code of Ethics, anticorruption policies and, in general, the provisions of regulations;
- collaborators cannot take the initiative and, for action to be taken in the situation, must immediately report to the supervisory contact any attempt to circumvent laws, the summary document of the model, Code of Ethics and anti-corruption policies.
- contractual documentation governing assignments to collaborators must contain a specific declaration:

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01 Page 64

- confirming awareness of the decree (if this law applies to the relationship), the summary document of the model, Code of Ethics and anti-corruption policies and the undertaking that these will be complied with;
- o undertaking to adopt conduct that will not result in commission of any of the criminal acts envisaged in the decree.

A specific clause is also envisaged to govern the consequences of committing (or attempting to commit) offences referred to in the aforementioned decree, if this constitutes a law applying to the relationship;

- for less tangible services and advice, transparent general criteria are defined as much as possible to determine the conditions of the offer, in such a way that any significant deviation from market standards can be easily detected and suitably justified;
- the person responsible for procedures, if not otherwise identified, is the head of the structure responsible for management of the transaction in question;
- the person responsible, as identified above, can request information and clarification from all structures or from individuals involved with or have been involved with the transaction;
- access to personal data and its processing complies with regulations, allowed solely by authorised persons and guarantees confidentiality in the transmission of information;
- if the document archiving or storage service is performed by a third party, the service is governed by a contract which, among other things, envisages that the third party complies with specific control procedures suitable to not allowing subsequent amendment of the documents except with specific justification;
- every access to the IT network Intranet and Internet uses at least two asymmetric credentials (user id and personal password), changed periodically, or other but not less effective solution, that allows the operator to access the network only in the step of the procedure under their responsibility and to leave an indelible trace of the action taken and the author every time the management systems are accessed;
- internal procedures and business processes are driven by principles of organisational, behavioural and technological safety and by accurate control activities, for suitable monitoring to safeguard management and use of IT and reporting systems in line with current regulations;
- documents concerning the activity are archived and preserved by the competent structure, using methods that do not allow later amendment, except with specific justification;
- access to archived documents is always justified and only permitted to persons authorised by the regulations, bodies and control functions and the auditing firm;
- action ceases with regard to cash flows when it is suspected that they originate or could directly or indirectly benefit parties involved in crimes or offences, and the situation is immediately reported to the competent corporate function;
- in the operational management of activities that have tax relevance, the payment is guaranteed of all tax dues and the prompt fulfilment of the requirements of the tax regulations, the correct determination of the tax burden in compliance with the provisions and to the permissible extent, without recourse to transactions or activities aimed

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

- exclusively or primarily at achieving tax savings and without proposing to customers, employees or third parties the purchase of products or the conclusion of transactions with such purposes;
- for the purpose of implementing decisions regarding the use of financial resources, financial and banking intermediaries are used that are subject to transparency and fairness obligations in compliance with EU regulations;
- with specific reference to outsourced activities performed on behalf of Group companies, these are required to comply with the rules on conflict of interest pursuant to article 2391 of the Italian Civil Code, associated persons pursuant to article 53 of the Consolidated Banking Law, obligations of bank representatives pursuant to article 136 of the Consolidated Banking Law and related parties according to IAS 24 and Consob Regulation no. 17221.

Under the responsibility of the party implementing them, exceptions to procedures envisaged in the model are permitted in cases of extreme urgency, in the formation or adoption of the decision or if compliance with procedures is temporarily impossible. In such cases:

- the principles for the prevention of crimes and offences are complied with;
- a report is sent immediately to the Supervisory Body;
- subsequent ratification is requested from the competent body if the exception has overridden the responsibilities of the latter.

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

[

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

1

1

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01

II	
II	

Summary document of the organisation, management and control model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01